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DAY 2 – 30 JUNE 2015 

 

  [10.01 am] 

 

SJH:  Good morning.  Thank you, Mr Winchester? 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Sir, I believe my learned friend, Ms Limmer, just wants 

to address you briefly if she may. 

 

MS LIMMER: May it please the Panel, Ms Limmer appearing for the 10 

Canterbury Aggregate Producers Group, if I can just at this opportunity 

seek leave of the Panel to excuse myself for a brief period today to 

attend the subdivision hearing and then - - - 

 

SJH:  By all means. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:  Yes, Mr Winchester, I think we come to Mr Falconer. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:  Good morning, sir, yes, I call Mr Falconer now and if I 

can perhaps just given an indication in terms of today.  I have reviewed 

the evidence of Mr Metherell who is giving evidence for Progressive, 

Bunnings and Kiwi Property Group and with your leave, sir, I will 

withdraw notice to cross-examine that witness.  We are going to be 25 

covering the same subject matter it seems to be with a number of 

witnesses. 

 

SJH:  All right, such leave is granted, thank you, Mr Winchester. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you, sir.  And just before Mr Falconer is sworn, I 

have had a discussion with my learned friend Ms McIndoe for the 

Crown about the order of witnesses and the availability of Mr Clark 

and I think the proposal is to bring Mr Clark forward in front of 

Ms McLeod.  I have no objective to that, sir, I am happy for any other 35 

party - - - 

 

SJH:  Well, I did notice that and I thought it must have been out of sync 

because he was unavailable or something later. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:  I think it is a travel issue, sir, but he is here. 

 

SJH:  All right.   
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MS WHITE:  Yes, he was appearing in the Environment Court and we weren’t 

entirely sure he would make it here in time to be on first thing this 

morning but he is here now and he is available. 

 

SJH:  Yes, we will bring him forward and hear him after Mr Falconer, thank 5 

you. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  As your Honour pleases and thank you to the Panel and 

other parties for your indulgence yesterday in terms of order of hearing, 

appreciated. 10 

 

SJH:  It is quite understandable, Mr Winchester. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  All right.   

15 
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<DAVID IAN FALCONER, affirmed [10.03 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [10.03 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Do you confirm your full name is David Ian Falconer 

and that you have the qualifications and experience set out in section 1 

of your statement of evidence-in-chief? 5 

 

MR FALCONER:  I do. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  And you have produced two statements of evidence for 

this hearing, Mr Falconer, the first being your evidence-in-chief, dated 10 

26 May 2015, and the second being your rebuttal evidence, dated 

17 June 2015? 

 

MR FALCONER:  That is right. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:  Do you have any amendments to those statements? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, just a couple of amendments to my rebuttal evidence. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Now, just go slowly so that the parties and the Panel can 20 

follow your amendments, please. 

 

MR FALCONER:  Sure.  So the first one is in paragraph 4.1 of my rebuttal 

evidence.  Just to clarify in the second sentence I have addressed all of 

these changes. 25 

 

SJH:  So we delete “most”. 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, delete “most”.  And paragraph 27.6 . 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:  Page 23. 

 

MR FALCONER:  Page 23, that is correct.  Just the first sentence there, the 

words “controlled activity” and “restricted discretionary” are around 

the wrong way so it should read “Ms McLeod has sought an exemption 35 

so that high traffic generating activities that have access to state 

highways can be a restricted discretionary activity rather than a 

controlled activity”. 

 

  [10.05 am] 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you.   

 

MR FALCONER:  That is all. 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:  That is it, thank you.  And subject to those changes, do 

you confirm that to the best of your knowledge and belief your 

evidence is true and correct? 

 

MR FALCONER:  I do. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Now, just before you give your summary, I understand 

you wish to produce a draft report and have that entered into the record 

and that is a draft report of the New Zealand Productivity Commission 

dated June 2015 entitled “Using Land for Housing”? 10 

 

MR FALCONER:  That is correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  You have a copy of that. 

 15 

SJH:  Exhibit 1, thank you. 

 

EXHIBIT #1 – Using Land for Housing – Draft Report – Summary 

Version, June 2015 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:  And I will ask you, Mr Falconer, when you are giving 

your summary of evidence to explain why you have produced that 

report and the particular relevance to the issues in this hearing, thank 

you.   

 25 

 All right, now you have a summary of your evidence and I will ask you 

to read that out please and then remain where you are and answer any 

questions. 

 

MR FALCONER:  Sure.  Right, sir, Panel members, in my role as the chapter 30 

lead for the transport proposal I consider that it is important that the 

district plan supports the transport network.  The changes to the 

transport network can be managed by having an enabling framework 

that provides a balance between clarity, certainty and flexibility.  The 

transport proposal provides this balance.  For example, by removing the 35 

constraints of minimum car parking requirements in some situations, 

reducing them in others and allowing for parking reduction factors. 

 

 A key part of managing the growth in the transport network is 

promoting a multimodal transport network and I consider that the 40 

transport proposal does this appropriately.  There are also situations 

where a large amount of vehicle trips are generated by an activity.  

These are known in the proposal as high trip generating activities or I 

will refer to them as HTGs.  

 45 
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 Given the amount of vehicle trips these activities have there is potential 

that these will impact on the transport network.  It is important that 

these effects are managed in a way that will not compromise the 

transport network.  The proposal provides for this by requiring that 

HTGs be assessed through an integrated transport assessment or 5 

otherwise known as an ITA.   

 

 Now, yesterday you would have heard from the other Council 

witnesses that over the past few months the Council has worked with 

submitters on resolving the submission points raised in the transport 10 

proposal and most of them have now been resolved.   

 

 The key areas of disagreement were canvassed quite well yesterday and 

I will just briefly highlight them.  The areas of disagreement are around 

the HTG rule, the activity status of that, the extent of non-notification, 15 

whether the rule should apply to quarries in the Rural Quarry zone and 

some of the assessment matters around amenity values and network 

effects. 

 

 Another area of disagreement is around minimum car parking 20 

requirements, whether they should apply to HTGs and also residential 

parking requirements in Akaroa.  And one final area of disagreement is 

around the submitter statement from Generation Zero and other 

submitters that seek more requirements for cycle parking and end of 

trip facilities.   25 

 

 Since most of this was covered yesterday I will just highlight the points 

that haven’t been canvassed just yet. 

 

 So first of all, in terms of the activity status for HTGs, I understand that 30 

the submitters accept restricted discretionary for full ITAs but not for 

basic ITAs that are permitted in zone.  For that they seek controlled 

activity status. 

 

 Now, I support the use of restricted discretionary status because I 35 

believe this can better enable the proposed activities to be modified 

through negotiation with applicants to better achieve transport 

outcomes, avoiding the risk for a stalemate between the applicants and 

Council. 

 40 

  [10.10 am] 

 

 Yesterday there was discussion about whether a condition will negate a 

consent and I consider that there is a risk that, as was discussed 

yesterday, it could be a case by case assessment as to whether a 45 

condition will negate a consent.  And there is a risk that this debate 
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could hold up controlled activity applications and add extra costs 

potentially requiring legal advice on controlled activity applications in 

order to ensure that the conditions do not negate the consent.  

 

 Whereas I think the debate really should be on whether, and the 5 

condition negates the consent but the debate should be on whether the 

condition addresses the effects of the activity and is the merits of the 

condition itself.  So I support restricted discretionary activity status 

because that will provide the ability to manage effects.  

 10 

 But I have turned my mind as to how we can better provide for the 

certainty issue that some submitters have raised.  So I have made a 

change to policy 7.1.1.2 in the revised proposal to direct that adverse 

effects from otherwise permitted activities are to be mitigated rather 

than avoided and it is only those activities from non-permitted activities 15 

where significant effects should be avoided. 

 

 Now, I think this goes some way to address the certainty that it is not a 

debate about whether the consent will be declined or avoided, and it is 

more about ensuring that those effects are mitigated.  20 

 

 Now whilst, as I say, I don’t support the use of controlled activity 

status if the Panel is of a mind to introduce controlled activity status I 

suggest that it should be extended from what the Crown is seeking not 

to exclude state highways but also to exclude the entire strategic 25 

transport network as some of the major arterials on the Council’s 

transport network have similar issues in terms of safety as state 

highways. 

 

 Now, in terms of notification of the HTG rule; I agree with Mr Phillips 30 

that it is possible to add a non-notification clause to that rule but I do 

not consider that inserting a clause and preventing notification of such 

applications would be appropriate in every circumstance.  So I have 

outlined in the revised proposal where I consider that non-notification 

is appropriate. 35 

 

 Now, in terms of managing car parking, I consider that it is more 

appropriate for HTGs that car parking is managed through an integrated 

transport assessment rather than the minimum car parking 

requirements.  I consider that in order for an ITA to be truly integrated 40 

car parking needs to be considered.  Parking supply can be a significant 

determinant in the trip generation of an activity.  Many ITA guidelines 

throughout the world and in New Zealand recommend that ITAs should 

consider car parking.  I rely on the evidence of Mr Roberts and 

Mr Nunns, who presented yesterday, that there is a large range of 45 

variability in parking demand. 
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 And so I consider that through an ITA parking demand can be better 

tailor made to address the circumstances of the situation and the 

particular activity and that should help better address the issues of the 

amenity concerns that were raised yesterday from overspill parking. 5 

 

 Now, out of all the transport rules in the operative plan, the minimum 

parking requirements generated the most consents and I think there is a 

risk that applying the minimum parking requirements to HTGs will 

continue to generate a lot of non-compliances. 10 

 

 And that is where I come to this report which was tabled before about 

using land for housing from the Productivity Commission.  This report, 

it is a draft report that was released after my rebuttal evidence was filed 

so I wasn’t able to refer to it in my evidence.  But I note that the 15 

Commission has come to a similar conclusion in recommendation 5.3 

which is on page 33 of this draft summary.   

 

 Their recommendation is that urban territorial authorities should 

remove district plan minimum parking requirements and make more 20 

use of traffic demand management techniques.  I consider that what the 

Council is proposing by removing minimum parking requirements for 

HTGs and instead using an integrated transport assessment does align 

with that recommendation. 

 25 

  [10.15 am] 

 

 Now, in terms of the other assessment matters that have been raised by 

some of the submitters in terms of amenity values, I consider that the 

effects on surrounding properties should be considered through an 30 

integrated transport assessment.  Many ITA guidelines recommend this 

that amenity should be considered. 

 

 In terms of the assessment on network effects there have been 

suggestions that the basic integrated transport assessments should only 35 

assess network effects of the immediate vicinity.  I have some concerns 

with that term as it is not clear what the immediate vicinity is and could 

create a lot of uncertainty and could potentially result in some wider 

transport effects not being managed through a high traffic generating 

consent. 40 

 

 In terms of whether quarries in the Rural Quarry zone should provide 

an ITA I do not dispute the evidence of Mr Warren and Mr Ensor that 

the quarries are important to Christchurch.  However I do consider that 

quarries can cause adverse effects on the transport network and on the 45 

amenity of surrounding properties if accessways are located close to 
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surrounding residential areas.  So I consider that an integrated transport 

assessment does provide the process to be able to mitigate those effects 

and, as I mentioned before, the change to policy 7.1.1.2 would apply to 

quarries in the Rural Quarry zone so that these effects are mitigated 

rather than avoided. 5 

 

 I also want to touch on the issue that was raised yesterday around the 

centres based approach.  We have considered that and how the 

transport proposal can support the centres based approach and I 

touched on that in my section 32 as to whether different triggers should 10 

be applied under the HTG rule for developments that are in centre as 

opposed to those that are out of centre.  And I consider it was 

appropriate that actually, whilst we want to encourage development in 

centres, it doesn’t mean that the effects of those developments in 

centres are any less in terms of the immediate traffic effects than out of 15 

centre development.  

 

 So those effects still need to be assessed but the change we have made, 

as I mentioned before, is that change to policy 7.1.1.2 which would 

apply to all in centre developments as well as any other in zone 20 

developments and that would mean that we will be mitigating those 

effects of in zone and in centre developments rather than avoiding them 

to have a less stringent consent process for those in centre 

developments. 

 25 

 I am happy to take any questions. 

 

SJH:  Thank you. Mrs White? 

 

MS McINDOE:  I am sorry it will be me for the Transport Agency. 30 

 

SJH:  I see, it has been put Mr Allen but it should have been you, Ms McIndoe, 

thank you. 

 

MS McINDOE:  The Crown has taken a unified approach and I think we were 35 

all listed and, of course, Mr Allen is not here today.   

 

SJH:  Yes, I understand. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS McINDOE [10.18 am] 40 

 

MS McINDOE:  Good morning, Mr Falconer. 

 

MR FALCONER:  Good morning. 

 45 
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MS McINDOE:  Now, the statement of expectations, of course you are aware 

of that and you are aware of its requirement that the district plan reduce 

significantly the degree of prescriptiveness of development controls 

and design standards, you are aware of that, aren’t you? 

 5 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, I am. 

 

MS McINDOE:  And you are also aware that that is reflected in objective 3.3.2 

of the strategic directions decision, aren’t you? 

 10 

MR FALCONER:  That is correct, yes. 

 

MS McINDOE:  Make sure you give an oral answer so that it appears on the 

transcript. 

 15 

MR FALCONER:  Sorry. 

 

MS McINDOE:  And one way to reduce prescriptiveness would be to make the 

activity status more lenient, wouldn’t it? 

 20 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, it would. 

 

MS McINDOE:  And the activity status for what I refer to as in zone or 

permitted high trip generating activities, the current activity status in 

the operative district plan that is restricted discretionary activity status, 25 

isn’t it? 

 

MR FALCONER:  That is correct for those activities, yes. 

 

MS McINDOE:  And the equivalent activity status for the equivalent activity in 30 

the replacement district plan that you are supporting is also restricted 

discretionary activity status, isn’t it? 

 

MR FALCONER:  That is correct. 

 35 

MS McINDOE:  Now, are you aware that the expert transportation witnesses 

couldn’t recall an instance of an activity under the existing operative 

plan being refused when it is this type of activity? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, I am. 40 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 

MS McINDOE: And do you accept that even the existing restricted 

discretionary activity rule hasn’t prevented what Mr Roberts thinks are 45 

potentially poor outcomes, from happening? 
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MR FALCONER:  No, in terms of Mr Roberts’ evidence, and I am happy to 

refer to it if you want? 

 

MS McINDOE:  I am really thinking back to the questioning which he 5 

received yesterday and his answers relating to his attachment - - - 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, yes. 

 

MS McINDOE:  So in his attachment he listed some good outcomes and also 10 

what I think he characterised as potentially poor outcomes, that had 

occurred under the existing rule? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, yes. And in that attachment he did list some good 

outcomes that had occurred, which wasn’t discussed much yesterday, I 15 

think matters 1 to 8, and they had been accepted by the decision maker 

in those circumstances, so there were some good outcomes that had 

come from restricted discretionary in my opinion. 

 

MS McINDOE:  But also outcomes which the Council considers less than 20 

ideal? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, there was, yes. 

 

MS McINDOE:  And do you accept the expert transport witness view that 25 

where you have an activity requiring a basic ITA, so it breaches the 

lower thresholds but not the upper thresholds, that they would generally 

present little risk to the transport network? 

 

MR FALCONER:  I will rely on their evidence on that. 30 

 

MS McINDOE:  And there is no expert transportation evidence is there that 

controlled activity status would cause any safety concerns? 

 

MR FALCONER:  No, I think Mr Roberts’ evidence has suggested that there 35 

could be safety concerns from controlled activity status in a basic ITA. 

 

MS McINDOE:  His written evidence? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes in his written evidence, yes in that attachment. 40 

 

MS McINDOE:  In the attachment A? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, right, yes. 

 45 
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MS McINDOE:  Now if we imagine a world where we did have a controlled 

activity rule for this type of activity and someone applied for consent, 

resource consent would still be required wouldn’t it? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes it would. 5 

 

MS McINDOE:  And the Council would still have the opportunity to assess the 

effects of that activity? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes. 10 

 

MS McINDOE:  On a case by case basis? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, that is correct. 

 15 

MS McINDOE:  And they could assess the effects on safety, couldn’t they? 

 

MR FALCONER:  They could. 

 

MS McINDOE:  And effects on amenity for example? 20 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes. 

 

MS McINDOE:  And they could impose conditions on the consent to manage 

those effects couldn’t they? 25 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, that is where my opinion differs in terms of, there is 

that risk around whether that condition will negate the consent and I 

know from my experience of processing consents for a number of years 

and also being aware of how consents are processed, I think there is a 30 

risk that there will be a lot of debate around whether the condition 

negates the consent or not, that will add extra time and delay to consent 

processes, potentially requiring legal advice, and there could be a risk 

that Councils will err on the side of caution and will not put in 

conditions to address safety issues because of the risk of a legal 35 

challenge to that. 

 

MS McINDOE:  So you would prefer to be able to have, I guess the ability to 

decline a consent, as a backstop in order to motivate amendments to a 

proposal, if that is what was required? 40 

 

MR FALCONER:  I think the change to the policy 7.1.1.2 basically that the 

policy’s not to avoid those effects.  So it is really not a debate about 

whether it would decline or not, it is really a debate about whether the 

conditions can fully mitigate those effects.  And that is my concern that 45 

with controlled activity status there will be the debate around whether 
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the conditions negate the consent or not rather than whether the 

conditions will mitigate the effects. 

 

MS McINDOE:  Okay, no further questions. 

 5 

MR FALCONER:  Thank you. 

 

SJH:  Thank you.  Ms Limmer? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [10.24 am] 10 

 

MS LIMMER:  Thank you, sir.  Mr Falconer, carrying on from Ms McIndoe’s 

questions in terms of controlled status, if you were wrong about how 

far a condition can go, for example a relocating an access way, would 

your recommendation change? 15 

 

MR FALCONER:  Well as a planner I think we will have to balance the, 

observe-, – what the traffic experts are telling us in terms of the safety 

effects, with also the legal considerations of what can be done under a 

controlled activity status and as I mentioned that will be a case by case 20 

assessment and in some places the legal situation will need to be 

balanced and that may end up resulting in having to override the safety 

concerns which I think is a risk. 

 

  [10.25 am] 25 

 

MS LIMMER:  But you accept the question of how far a condition can go is a 

legal question? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes. 30 

 

MS LIMMER:  And you say in your evidence that restricted discretionary 

status is not favoured because you need to decline these consents? 

 

MR FALCONER:  The only circumstances where I - - - 35 

 

MS LIMMER:  Just referring to your evidence Mr Falconer, you have said you 

don’t need it in order to decline consents. 

 

MR FALCONER: Yes, I don’t really think it is an issue around declining, that 40 

is why we changed the policy; it is really an issue around whether 

robust conditions can be put on the consent. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Yes, yes.  If I can turn now to the issue of the existing quarries, 

could you confirm for me please whether your exemption about 45 
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existing activities accessing urban roads would capture any of the 

quarries in the quarry zone? 

 

MR FALCONER:  No, no they would not, they are on rural roads. 

 5 

MS LIMMER:  Have you been to any of the eight existing quarries? 

 

MR FALCONER:  I have driven past them, I haven’t been on site, no. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Have you seen any cars parked outside those quarries? 10 

 

MR FALCONER:  No. 

 

MS LIMMER:  As a general proposition, do you agree that the longer an 

activity has been going for the harder it is to establish; existing use 15 

rights, whether they exist and to what extent? 

 

MR FALCONER:  It may be more challenging, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:  As a planner would you agree there are benefits in a zone that 20 

effectively regularises existing uses? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Would you agree that such benefits include greater certainty 25 

for users within that zone as to what they can do? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:  And would you agree another benefit or that benefit increases 30 

the longer the activity has been going for? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes it could, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Would you agree that it also offers greater certainty for users 35 

outside of the zone in terms of what they can expect from activities 

within it? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, yes. 

 40 

MS LIMMER:  Would you agree that it also has the benefit of reduced 

monitoring complexity for the Council? 

 

MR FALCONER:  It could do if the effects of those activities are well 

managed, yes. 45 
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MS LIMMER:  I am just talking about monitoring complexity. Would you 

agree that a zone that regularises existing uses would reduce the 

complexity for the Council in figuring out what they are allowed to do? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes it would, yes. 5 

 

MS LIMMER:  And your proposed exemption for existing activities would 

have the same benefits, wouldn’t it? 

 

MR FALCONER:  For the quarries, yes, yes. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:  Turning to consider amenity effects, Mr Falconer, as a planner 

would you agree the quarry zone anticipates high levels of heavy 

vehicle movements? 

 15 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, I would. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Now to offer greater certainty to activities permitted within a 

zone you recommended a non-notification clause, but that same clause 

doesn’t apply to quarries does it? 20 

 

MR FALCONER:  No, there is a separate non-notification clause for quarries 

around where the access is 250 metres from a residential activity. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Yes.  Do you know how many existing quarries are within that 25 

250 metre ruling? 

 

MR FALCONER:  As far as I am aware there is probably only one but I 

haven’t measured them in detail. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:  You don’t know for sure.  Do you think that might be relevant 

to the costs of that rule? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:  So because you have excluded quarries from the existing use 

exemption, existing quarries and new quarries could potentially have to 

be notified, couldn’t they? 

 

MR FALCONER:  If they don’t comply with that non-notification clause that I 40 

have included, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Yes.  Would it be fair to observe from the evidence that there 

is disagreement between the planners on how broad or narrow the 

amenity effect assessment might be? 45 
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MR FALCONER:  Yes, yes, that is correct. 

 

MS LIMMER:  As drafted then there is at least potential for that same 

disagreement to arise on processing of a consent, isn’t there? 

 5 

MR FALCONER:  There could be. 

 

MS LIMMER:  In terms of what effects can or cannot be taken into account. 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, there could be. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:  If I understand Mr Roberts’ evidence correctly, ITAs are fairly 

standard throughout New Zealand, there has been a push for 

consistency in them? 

 15 

  [10.30 am] 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, they are becoming more commonplace, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:  As are the matters they address? 20 

  

MR FALCONER:  Yes.   

 

MS LIMMER:  So no doubt the RPS has in mind an ITA covering the matters 

set out in appendix E to your evidence, the City Council’s guideline? 25 

 

MR FALCONER:  The RPS doesn’t have that detail in it.   

 

MS LIMMER:  No, in terms of the concept of the matters that will be 

addressed by an ITA, those guidelines would reflect that? 30 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, the RPS has detailed, but I suspect that is what - - - 

 

MS LIMMER:  Well given that it is reasonably consistent as to what they 

would cover, that is what the RPS would expect. 35 

 

MR FALCONER:  I would expect so.   

 

MS LIMMER:  So you are giving effect to the RPS by requiring an ITA 

covering the matters in your appendix E? 40 

 

MR FALCONER:  I consider I am, yes.  

 

MS LIMMER:  Would you normally expect an acoustic consultant to be 

involved in preparation of an ITA? 45 
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MR FALCONER:  Well it is an integrated assessment, so if the effects are 

significant noise effects then, yes, that could be appropriate.   

 

MS LIMMER:  So in your evidence and Mr Roberts’ evidence it says that 

normally a transport planner or traffic engineer would prepare them.  5 

Are you saying an acoustic consultant would be involved in that too? 

 

MR FALCONER:  If there were effects that were significant enough to require 

an acoustic consultant, yes. 

 10 

MS LIMMER:  And does appendix E of your evidence set that out, make that 

expectation clear, the guidelines? 

 

MR FALCONER:  The guidelines – the guidelines make it clear that this is an 

integrated approach so it will be a multidisciplinary approach if the 15 

effects are warranted. 

 

MS LIMMER:  So you think they say that? 

 

MR FALCONER:  I think it is.  20 

 

MS LIMMER:  If I could turn perhaps to the guidelines, Mr Falconer.  Perhaps 

if I take you to page 218 of your evidence.   

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:  Section headed “Transport Effects”.  So in the case of the basic 

and full ITA assessments, they both require an assessment on the 

surrounding transport network. 

 30 

MR FALCONER:  Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Those words are the same in both, aren’t they? 

 

MR FALCONER:  I think that is correct, yes.  Yes. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:  Yes.  Do either the basic or full ITA guidelines direct an 

assessment of effects on the amenity values, for example from dust and 

noise, on surrounding areas? 

 40 

MR FALCONER:  It probably doesn’t have that detail, but - - - 

 

MS LIMMER:  Well do any of the bullet points that expand on that one 

proposition say that? 

 45 
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MR FALCONER:  No, but this doesn’t need to necessarily be in the ITA itself, 

it can be in AEE of the consent as well.   

 

MS LIMMER:  If we look at the HTG rule, 7.2.3.10 I think it is, clause 3 tells 

users of the plan that guidance on preparing an ITA to address the 5 

assessment matters can be obtained from Council.  Is that correct? 

 

MR FALCONER:  That is correct, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:  So this is meant to tell applicants how to do the ITA that the 10 

rule requires? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes.  

 

MS LIMMER:  Thank you, sir.  I have no further questions. 15 

 

SJH:  Thank you.  Ms Marks? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS MARKS [10.34 am] 

 20 

MS MARKS:  Good morning Mr Falconer.  

 

MR FALCONER:  Morning. 

 

MS MARKS:  A number of my questions have already been dealt with by 25 

other counsel, so I’ll be brief.  You would agree that car parking is 

central to large scale commercial developments? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, I do. 

 30 

MS MARKS:  And you would also agree that given that centrality it is 

something that developers generally assess and design at an early stage 

of any project? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes. 35 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MS MARKS:  And you would accept that where car parking is only confirmed 

at the stage of resource consenting there is the potential for developers 40 

to have to go back and essentially redesign a project where the 

outcomes in terms of parking differ from those anticipated? 

 

MR FALCONER:  It is probably, yes. 

 45 
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MS MARKS:  Yesterday Mr Roberts said that their most frequent adverse 

effect from the current minimum parking requirement is an over-supply 

of parking, and if you accept Mr Phillips’ evidence that the market will 

address any over-supply, has a balancing exercise been undertaken as 

part of a section 32 report between the high potential costs for 5 

developers and the minimal benefits of removing those car park 

requirements? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, I think that Mr Nunns has touched on all of those cost 

benefits yesterday.   10 

 

MS MARKS:  And that section 32 analysis recognised that the most frequent 

adverse effect is an over-supply? 

 

MR FALCONER:  There is also an under-supply as well, it is both. 15 

 

MS MARKS:  Thank you.  No further questions.   

 

SJH:  Thank you.  Any re-examination Mr Winchester? 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you, no, sir.   

 

SJH:  Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:  Yes, I do.  Morning Mr Falconer.   25 

 

MR FALCONER:  Morning. 

 

MS HURIA:  Just a quick question around the proposed reduction in residential 

unit car parks from two to one for some units.   30 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes. 

 

MS HURIA:  What is your expectation around where people who have more 

than two cars that buy or rent those units will put their cars? 35 

 

MR FALCONER:  I think in a lot of cases there is no maximum limit on 

parking, so a lot of cases the market will provide them and people will 

provide enough space for their car parks.  Where they don’t then they 

will either have to find alternative parking space or consider whether 40 

the amount of vehicles they have in the location where they are living 

is appropriate.  

 

MS HURIA:  Or park on the road? 

 45 
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MR FALCONER:  Yes, or park on the road.  If that is appropriate, if that is an 

opportunity.  In some places there is no parking on the road, but yes. 

 

MS HURIA:  Thank you.  Thank you, sir.   

 5 

SJH:  Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Thank you, sir.  Good morning Mr Falconer.  

 

MR FALCONER:  Good morning. 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Firstly, thanks for the work that you have done in trying to 

sort a lot of the contention out, that is really helpful to us.   

 

MR FALCONER:  Thank you. 15 

 

DR MITCHELL:  I know you have been asked a lot of questions about 

controlled activities, but I would be remiss in not asking the same 

questions of you that I have asked the other planning witnesses.   

 20 

 It seems to me that there is a policy with a small “p” direction within 

Council that doesn’t like controlled activities, because all the planners 

that have appeared before us express very much the same view that you 

have expressed.  Is that a fair statement that there is a principle that the 

Planning Division of the Council has that controlled activities are not 25 

preferred and should be discouraged? 

 

MR FALCONER:  I don’t say there is a policy around it, and I note that a 

number of proposals are now recommending a controlled activity 

status. 30 

 

 I think what you are seeing is planners, especially Council planners, see 

some of the adverse outcomes in the debates, as I mentioned before that 

arise with controlled activity status.  I have for a number of years 

processed consents and some of them are controlled activity status and 35 

I have seen that debate play out, and I suspect a lot of my colleagues 

have as well, and that is why we are probably express in a similar view.  

It is all our personal professional opinions, but it’s come from 

experience of being on that Council side of processing consents and 

seeing the adverse effects of what controlled activity status can 40 

produce. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Given that the Council though has the ability to impose 

conditions, surely a condition - if you reverse control over, and you 

have mentioned safety, and the other experts have mentioned safety, if 45 

you make it clear that safety is one of the matters over which control is 
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to be retained, surely that is just a straightforward matter of conditions.  

Because there is nothing that the traffic guys can’t engineer their way 

out of in respect of safety, is there?  

 

 Can you think of an example where you would actually have to decline 5 

a consent on the basis of access because of road safety issues, provided 

that the zoning was in place first and it wasn’t an out of zone activity or 

something that hadn’t been contemplated, but within the centres 

approach that has been adopted in the plan, what are the sort of 

examples where you would actually turn a consent down? 10 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 

MR FALCONER:  I will have to rely on the evidence of Mr Roberts, not being 

a traffic engineer, but he has outlined some examples of where he 15 

considered there were safety issues and where access is to a certain 

road or is adjacent to another access or opposite another access and 

there’s safety issues there, as has been mentioned in those 

circumstances those consents haven’t been declined, but there has been 

ability to move those accesses to a more appropriate location to resolve 20 

those safety effects. 

 

 And the risk is that if there is not willingness from an applicant for that 

change, and they consider that that is negating their consent, then that is 

where the challenge and risk comes in that, and we are having a debate 25 

about whether the condition is appropriate, as it may be to address 

safety, is not possible because it could negate the consent. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Do you really think that is negating the consent, saying 

move the access point 50 metres down the road? 30 

 

MR FALCONER:  I personally don’t think it is, but those kind of arguments 

do come up, for instance, in processes - - - 

 

DR MITCHELL:  So following Ms Limmer’s questions; if you were advised 35 

that that is not negation of consent, and based on Mr Roberts’ evidence, 

who couldn’t point to a particular example in his experience where 

consent would be declined on the basis of those safety issues, and if 

you were advised from a legal point of view that requiring an access 

way to be shifted wasn’t negating the consent, would that mean that 40 

you could then support a controlled activity rule? 

 

MR FALCONER:  I could support it, but it still means that the debate has been 

had, the assessment’s been had, and at additional cost to the applicant 

to get to that point, when, if it was restricted discretionary, you 45 

wouldn’t even need to have that discussion.   
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DR MITCHELL:  What is the difference though?  I am struggling to 

understand what the difference is, because if it was a restricted 

discretionary activity the Council would say “We don’t think it’s safe, 

move the access point”, and the applicant would say either “yes” or 5 

“no”; and if they said “no”, you would have a hearing and you would 

resolve it one way or the other, and if it was a controlled activity, 

exactly that same situation would exist, it is simply a matter of whether 

there be a condition imposed that required it to be moved or not based 

on the evidence, wouldn’t it? 10 

 

MR FALCONER:  It would, but if the applicant isn’t willing to move the 

access way, then that safety issue cannot be resolved, it results in a 

stalemate, and that is my concern. 

 15 

DR MITCHELL:  But why is it a stalemate, you issue the consent, the Council 

issues the consent with a redrawn plan that says move the access way 

there, and that puts all the risk on the applicant, if he doesn’t like it he 

has to appeal it, and that is a huge disincentive I would have thought to 

appealing it, because the whole thing then stops while you go through 20 

an appeal process. 

 

MR FALCONER:  There is also risk to Council, that the Council will then 

have to defend its decision through appeal and so the Council may want 

to err on the side of caution and not present that condition. 25 

 

DR MITCHELL:  But that would happen anyway, if an applicant for a 

restricted discretionary activity says “I am not moving my access way, 

I haven’t applied for consent for that, I am not going to do it”, all it 

means is that you can use the lever and the big stick to say “I am going 30 

to decline your consent out of an abundance of caution because I think 

the risk to the Council’s too great”; isn’t that the point? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Well, I think the point is the debate is about the merits of 

the condition under restricted discretionary, not around whether it 35 

negates the consent. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  All right, okay.  Can I talk to you a little bit about these 

integrated transport assessments? 

 40 

 I just want to understand at a practical level what it is you would be 

seeking to achieve within them, because you will have heard the 

questions I asked yesterday, and in fairness I focused on the flowchart 

rather than the words, but I think the questions that I asked were still 

sort of on point; what is it about these things that you are seeking to 45 

achieve with them?  It looks like pretty basic sort of traffic engineering 
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to me, and I am struggling to understand what it is about them that the 

Council would be looking to achieve that can’t be achieved with more 

conventional approaches.   

 

  [10.45 am] 5 

 

MR FALCONER:  I think, if I take the operative plan for example, the 

operative plan had a similar rule to this, but it didn’t have the individual 

transport assessment, and really the focus of the assessment matters 

around there and it was limited discretionary in this regard, was around 10 

the location of the access and the traffic effects of the activity, whereas 

as individual transport assessments are looking at more than just traffic, 

it is looking at all transport modes, public transport, cycling and so 

forth, also as we have discussed, it is also wanting to consider car 

parking and the effect that car parking can have on the layout, and it is 15 

also looking at – and this would only apply for those out of zone 

activities, the accessibility of the location and whether that location is 

appropriate in terms of all those modes.   

 

 So it is a much wider assessment than what is in the current operative 20 

plan. The term integrated transport assessment obviously is, in 

Canterbury situations, come from the RPS, but is a commonly used 

term and so we have continued to use the same term because it is well 

known in other centres.   

 25 

DR MITCHELL:  If we go to the actual specific wording, I just want to 

understand what it means in practise when you would apply these, and 

we perhaps can start with assessment matter 3 in rule – or the height 

generator assessment map, 7.3.19, and Ms McIndoe reminded me 

yesterday that the memo has changed the word minimises in the first 30 

line of 3 to reduces, and I think that has been agreed. 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  But whether the design and layout of the proposed activity 35 

reduces the need to travel by private vehicles, how does that work, how 

does a layout reduce the need to travel by private vehicle? 

 

MR FALCONER:  I mean, the whole sentence has to be read in total, and I 

think it is around whether the development prioritises people who 40 

travel by vehicles or makes it safe for people to travel via public 

transport or active transport, I mean I use the number of examples of 

car parks, which are in front of activities and can be quite – cause some 

safety issues for people who come by public transport or walk or cycle 

as they have to negotiate through the car park to get to the front door of 45 

the activity, and that in itself can actually discourage people from using 
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those modes and would prefer to drive and park next to the front door 

rather than having to negotiate through the car park. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  I can see how that encourages public and active transport 

use for the very reasons that you have said, but I don’t understand how 5 

that minimises or reduces the need to travel by private vehicles.  The 

only way that you can do that is to limit the number of car parks, isn’t 

it? 

 

 If your objective is to reduce the need to travel by private vehicles to a 10 

proposed activity, you can encourage other means, but the only way 

that you can actually reduce or minimise the use of private vehicles is 

to make it difficult for them to park. 

 

MR FALCONER:  This has, on purpose, got the words reduce the need to 15 

travel and it is similar wording to the RPS about reducing car 

dependency, I think some people may feel the need to travel because 

they are discouraged for safety reasons or – from using public transport 

for the reasons I outlined before.  There is also, could be through 

ensuring that developments encourage people to use other modes rather 20 

than their private vehicles. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  I understand the encouragement part, I mean that makes 

sense to me, you can encourage activities by making things available 

for them, and you can discourage other activities, but I am just not sure 25 

how you can have an assessment matter that talks about reducing the 

need to travel by private vehicles, I just don’t understand how that 

could possibly work in practice in anyway at all, other than saying 

there are no car parks available or there are not enough car parks 

available.  That would then minimise it, but how else could you 30 

minimise it? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Well, if you are encouraging public transport, and you are 

encouraging people to use those modes, then obviously they are going 

to drive less, so I think it is just the opportunity of the latter statement.   35 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 

DR MITCHELL:  So if that were to say “encourages a lesser reliance on 

private vehicles,” that might be more appropriate because have those 40 

two matters more equally balanced - - -  

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL: - - - because one seems to me to be directive “minimise” and 45 

the one says “you shall encourage,” and on its face that seems to me to 
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be, a non-level playing field, and if you’re saying “the intention is not 

to do that,” it’s for me - - -  

 

MR FALCONER:   That’s right. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:  - - - to say, “We want those two things on the same playing 

field”, you accept that that’s - - -  

 

MR FALCONER:   I accept that and it is evidence yesterday, we’re wanting to 

provide a balanced transport networking - - -  10 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, no that’s fine - - -  

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, that’s right, yes. 

 15 

DR MITCHELL: - - - I think that’s helpful, thank you. 

 

 Just clarifying what item 4, under 7.3.19 means too, which says about 

car parking, “the extent to which car parking supply varies from 

minimum number of car parks listed …” understand that, “… and 20 

whether such a variation matches the anticipated parking demand of the 

activity …” I get that part, and then it says, “And mitigates adverse 

effects through operating parking in a coordinated or shared way with 

other activities.” 

 25 

 First of all, what are the adverse effects that are under consideration 

there and what does parking in a coordinated or shared way mean? 

 

MR FALCONER:   I think in this – the person who put the word “including” is 

- - -  30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, yes understand. 

 

MR FALCONER:  - - - this is not the only part but if there is two adjacent 

activities that have different parking demands at different times of the 35 

day, then rather than each activity providing car parking for its own 

needs, if they share the car park so that if one activity was operating 

during the day and the other activity operated during the night, then 

they could share the car park and provide for their needs within the 

same car park. 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Presumably that would require two independent property 

owners to agree to do that and it wouldn’t be something that a Council 

could require by a consent condition could it or could it? 

 45 
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MR FALCONER:  I mean if that was volunteered by the applicants and this 

could occur on the same site, you could have two activities on the same 

site with the same owner, that have different hours of operation. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Would the adverse effects that you’re contemplating being 5 

considered there include, pardon me, spill over of parking onto public 

roads and residential areas and those sorts of things? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, that’s correct. 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:  One of the things that – and finally, one of the things that 

seems to me to be “missing from,” I mean I know there’s mention of 

amenity factors and so forth and I understand what the productivity the 

commissioner has said and what you’re saying about “over supply and 

under supply both need to be considered,” I understand that at a 15 

principled level. 

 

 But isn’t one of the really fundamental adverse effects of “under supply 

of car parking” be amenity effects on people on the vicinity, and if you 

ask people generally speaking, what is the most annoying thing about a 20 

particular activity in their neighbourhood it is traffic congestion and 

parking, would that be fair? 

 

MR FALCONER:  For some people, yes, that is a significant concern. 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:  And what is the – just explain to me what the real downside 

of “over supply” of a car park is, and I heard the evidence yesterday 

from Mr Nunns about the costs, but they’re opportunity costs that a 

developer face, they’re not real costs in the sense of, spending money 

that you can’t recoup, it’s just an inefficient use of land and that’s 30 

effectively what the productivity commission say as well, but if that’s 

my land and I say “I want to provide a few more car parks because 

that’s what my customers expect, they expect to be able to park on the 

site,” what’s the downside of that? 

 35 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, one is an efficient use of land which the productivity 

commission has included, but also the productivity commission has 

also noted that over supply of car parking can promote excessive car 

use and encourage more traffic and so that could be an adverse effect 

on the transport network as well. 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:  All right, okay, thank you, thank you, Mr Falconer, thank 

you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 45 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Yes, sir, I do. Good morning, Mr Falconer. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Good morning. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH: I have also been trying to get my head around 5 

permitted activities and zone activities requiring basic ITA being 

controlled restricted discretionary, and in particular with respect to 

quarries, I can see that you have made some concessions, mitigation 

rather than avoidance and a non-notification clause. 

 10 

 So the first part of my question is around this non-notification clause, 

and I think you said in your rebuttal evidence that an “ITA provides a 

mechanism to assess the effects of heavy truck movements from a 

proposed quarry activity,” and you have a clause there that says “It’s 

non-notified unless it accesses within 250 metres of the residents,” 15 

that’s one of the concessions you’ve made. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  So I’ve been trying to get my head around the 20 

meaning of the term “access,” I know it is in simple terms it’s a 

gateway to a quarry, but is it the location of the entry point of the 

quarry or is it the path the vehicle takes, for instance, if you have a 

quarry and it’s got an access and there’s a house 300 metres away, in 

simple terms, be non-notification, but if the truck goes past that house 25 

and we know often houses are built close to the road, goes past a house 

to reach the access, would you consider that to be within the 250 metre 

non-notification or outside it? 

 

MR FALCONER:  I would consider it to be outside it, there is a definition of 30 

vehicle access in the definitions chapter and I – so the intention is, it’s 

the access point, where we want that separation because that’s where 

heavy vehicles will be slowing down to turn into their quarry and 

braking and so there’ll be noise associated with that. 

 35 

 I accept from the evidence of Mr Ensor and Mr Warren that heavy 

vehicles travelling through the quarry zone is anticipated by the quarry 

zone, it’s the location of access and the braking of vehicles, slowing 

down determined access which I think was the noise issue that - - -  

 40 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  So that’s in the de-acceleration land – I haven’t read 

the definition, perhaps I should have – but it says, so that is located 

within metres of the actual access, that’s what “access” means there. 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, it’s the point at where vehicles cross from the road 45 

onto private property. 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH: Thank you. On the point of “controlled” versus 

“restricted discretionary,” it is in your rebuttal evidence though, I think 

it was 27.4 you said, “Retaining restricted discretionary will enable 

effects to be considered on a case by case basis,” so that’s understood, 5 

and then you said “We need to draw the line on resource consents and 

ensure that any adverse transport effects are considered through the 

high traffic generation rule.” 

 

 You don’t anticipate that a high traffic generation activity with basic or 10 

full ITA would not require resource consent do you? 

 

MR FALCONER:  No, that’s correct. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  So I’ve been trying to understand your reasons for not 15 

having controlled activity status, and when I read your evidence you 

say one of your main reasons is around “complexity,” and also I’ve 

heard your evidence today saying that it might be that a condition may 

negate the consent. 

 20 

 But you said here because Council would have to specify in detail 

matters of control, and when I consider I think, “Isn’t that the point of 

having controlled status in a zone,” and it makes the consent process 

clear and it gives certainties. 

 25 

 It’s not such a big task is it, to detail matters of control for a consent? 

 

MR FALCONER:  No, I was just making the point that would have to be put 

into the plan, but yes, it’s a matter of drafting rather than a matter of an 

issue with the plan. 30 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  And in the detail of the control, wouldn’t it be simple 

enough to have a rule of a controlled activity which states that the 

applicant must satisfy through mitigation effects identified in an ITA? 

 35 

MR FALCONER:   You could put that in as a matter of control, but I still think 

there could be debate to an extent the proposal was changed to address 

those mitigation concerns, whether that negates the concern. 

 

  [11.00 am] 40 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  So, thank you.  So just moving back to this non-

notification clause, can you tell me your reasoning for using 250 

metres?  Why didn’t you use 400 or 100? 

 45 
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MR FALCONER:   Yes, the 250 metres is consistent with what is in the now 

notified stage 2 rural quarry zone or rural zone.  It’s a separation from 

new residential activities from quarries and it’s also a separation from 

new quarries that are in the rural zone from any residential zone.  And I 

understand that figure’s come from some research out of Victoria in 5 

Australia and I think it’s used more widely than that, that that is an 

appropriate distance to mitigate effects on amenity. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you, no more questions. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you. Mr Falconer, I may have missed this in the evidence but can 

you assure us so we don’t need to do a lot of double checking that these 

provisions perfectly align with Residential Commercial and the other 

chapters we’ve heard to date? 

 15 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, I’ve worked very closely with those chapter leaders to 

ensure that. 

 

SJH:   I’m just asking can you assure me that we don’t need to do any double 

checking. They’re perfectly aligned? 20 

 

MR FALCONER:  Well the proviso is obviously that those chapters have been 

revised quite a lot recently and we don’t have it now. 

 

SJH:   Well we don’t know whether you have dealt with the most up to date 25 

revisions that have been given to us. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Okay, and they align? 30 

 

MR FALCONER:   I consider they do. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. I just want to go back to Dr Mitchell’s question about 

whether there’s a philosophy against controlled activity within 35 

Council?  I think it’s probably fair to say that the initial position of 

virtually every Council planning witness has been against controlled 

activity. A number of them have made significant concessions in 

relation to that.  Are we to take it that that it simply coincidence? 

 40 

MR FALCONER:  Well you’ll have to ask those experts as to what their initial 

opinion was and the reasons for their change.  From my perspective I 

just speak for my chapter.  There was no controlled activity status in 

the Operative Plan in the Transport chapter so we’ve considered that 

and considered that that was appropriate to continue with the new. 45 
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SJH:   All right.  Could you go to your 27.7 of your rebuttal at page 24, and 

you point out there that only 0.27 percent of resource consents were 

declined.  You say nothing, however, about the time difficulty and cost 

of obtaining the resource consents do you? 

 5 

MR FALCONER:   No, I don’t. 

 

SJH:  Which would be a relevant matter given the requirements in the 

statement of expectations? 

 10 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Coming to the parking, which we’ve had a number of questions on, if 

there is an oversupply that in the main as I think Dr Mitchell pointed 

out, is a cost on the developer.   15 

 

MR FALCONER:  It is a cost on the developer but it can also as I mentioned 

before, be a cost on the transport network. 

 

SJH:   If there is an undersupply which creates overspill that is a cost to the 20 

Council in managing it in the surrounding district, surrounding area. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   But we know that the figures that Mr Nunns gave us about that cost 25 

were, he accepted, potentially misleading because they didn’t take into 

account any income generated from the Council’s management? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, I have to rely on his evidence on that I think. 

 30 

SJH:   Well were you here yesterday? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, I was, yes. 

 

SJH:   Well that’s what he said. 35 

 

MR FALCONER:   That was his answer, yes. 

 

SJH:   And he also said that he had not directly taken into account the social 

cost to surrounding businesses and residences of such oversupply. 40 

 

MR FALCONER: Yes, he said he had not done that directly, yes, that’s 

correct. 

 

SJH:   And wouldn’t that be a relevant factor in considering effects, adverse 45 

and positive? 
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  [11.05 am] 

 

MR FALCONER: Yes, he considered he’d done it sufficiently through directly 

considering them through the management of those effects. 5 

 

SJH:   Mr Roberts yesterday talked about the “carrot and stick” approach to 

encouraging active transport. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 10 

 

SJH:   And we also heard yesterday of the split of capital investment into active 

transport which there’s a lot more going into cycling than public 

transport from the evidence, it appears? 

 15 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, from what I recall from Mr Gregory’s evidence, yes. 

 

SJH:   To be frank, isn’t one of the major aims of the removing the minimum 

parking provision and risking overspill an attempt to be the stick for 

active transport? 20 

 

MR FALCONER:   That is - - - 

 

SJH:   I’m not saying that’s wrong. 

 25 

MR FALCONER: - - - yes, it could be used that way. 

 

SJH:   I’m just trying to be open about it. 

 

MR FALCONER:   It’s not the only reason, but it could be used for that, yes. 30 

 

SJH:   Because there is a strong intention here to encourage active or - - - 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes there is, yes. 

 35 

SJH:   - - - encourage or use the stick for active transport, which I made plain 

yesterday, I completely understand and agree with. So you’d accept 

that’s one of the purposes of that? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, yes. 40 

 

SJH:   I haven’t had the opportunity to read this New Zealand Productivity 

Commission draft report but it does say in its terms of reference it’s 

with respect to how they deliver an adequate supply of developed, 

develop the capacity for housing. 45 
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MR FALCONER:   Yes, that’s correct. 

 

SJH:   And at 31 F 5.3 again talks about contributing to increased housing 

costs. Minimum parking requirements create land use inefficiencies 

and higher construction costs contributing to increased housing costs. 5 

 

MR FALCONER:   That’s correct, yes. 

 

SJH:   So when we look at your reference at page 33 up to 5.3 isn’t that aimed 

at not across the board but residential in particular and the whole 10 

purpose of the report? 

 

MR FALCONER:   The whole purpose of the report is on residential. 

 

SJH:  So you would simply ask us to extrapolate those findings across the 15 

board effectively? 

 

MR FALCONER: Well this report is not the only reason why I’m 

(INDISTINCT 2.52) - - - 

 20 

SJH:   No, no, no I understand, I understand that and I don’t think for a 

moment it is but that’s what you’re asking, it’s to do with this report is 

it? 

 

MR FALCONER:  I’m asking you to note this, it’s just in particular a concern 25 

for residential development, yes. 

 

SJH:   So it’s limited to residential? 

 

MR FALCONER:   This report is, yes, that’s correct. 30 

 

SJH:  Okay, thank you. Ms Marks, anything arising from the Panel’s 

questions? 

 

MS MARKS:   No, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   Ms Limmer? 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir. 

 40 

SJH:   Ms McIndoe? 

 

MS McINDOE:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Winchester? 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Falconer, you may stand down. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Thank you. 5 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.08 am] 

 

SJH:   Now, Ms McIndoe, we’re going to go to Mr Clark. 

 10 

MS McINDOE:   Yes, sir, the Crown calls Mr Clark. 
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<IAN DAVID CLARK, sworn [11.08 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS McINDOE [11.08 am] 

 

MS McINDOE:  Are you ready to go Mr Clark?  No, not quite.  Okay, can you 

please confirm for the Panel that your full name is Ian David Clark? 

 5 

MR CLARK:   That’s correct. 

 

MS McINDOE:  And you are a director of Flow Transportation Specialists 

Limited? 

 10 

MR CLARK:   Yes I am. 

 

MS McINDOE:  And you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

your statement of evidence dated 10 June 2015? 

 15 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 

MS McINDOE:   Do you have any corrections to make to that evidence? 

 

MR CLARK:   No. 20 

 

MS McINDOE:  Do you confirm that your evidence is true and correct to the 

best of your knowledge? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes. 25 

 

MS McINDOE: Thank you, please present your highlights and then answer any 

questions which counsel and the Panel may have. 

 

MR CLARK:   Good morning.  So you have my statement of evidence dated 30 

10 June and this evidence covers three main issues. 

 

  [11.10 am] 

 

 Firstly, the need for Integrated Transport Assessments or ITAs.  35 

Secondly, when an ITA will be required, and thirdly, the scope of the 

ITAs. 

 

 In terms of the first issue, the Panel has already heard yesterday from 

Mr Richards on the roles of the Transport Agency and the importance 40 

of ensuring that the impacts of proposed developments on the 

Australian transport networks are minimised. 

 

 I accept that providing for the safe and efficient operation of strategic 

infrastructure that only one of several key objectives in the Strategic 45 

Directions Chapter, an existent theme in my evidence is a need for 
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balance between this one objective and others in order to facilitate 

recovery.   

 

 In terms of when an ITA is needed and the scope of ITA’s actively 

participated in the various expert witnesses’ conferences. These 5 

conferences assisted to reduce the differences between the parties, and 

therefore my evidence focuses on matters in which there is not full 

agreement. 

 

 Namely, firstly the activity status with the smaller developments, that is 10 

those covered by the basic ITAs, can be controlled non-restricted 

discretionary, secondly, assessing the cumulative effects of 

developments within an ITA and further assessing parking within an 

ITA.   

 15 

 On the first of these matters the activity status, the Panel will hear 

shortly from Ms McLeod, her expert planning view on this matter, and 

I support that view.   

 

 The evidence in that relate to the scope of ITAs. In terms of cumulative 20 

effects, I note the desire of several submitters that this matter should 

not be included within an ITA for developments within the Key 

Activity Centre or KAC.  (INDISTINCT 1.57) be limited in its scope.   

 

 However, my view is that it is important for the Transport Agency, and 25 

indeed the City Council, to be aware of the likely extent of congestion 

around KACs.  While I accept that a measure of congestion is a natural 

and expected consequence of the concentration of activities around 

centres, I do not consider this means that it is acceptable for the 

cumulative effects not to be assessed and just ignored. 30 

 

 My evidence sets out some of the considerations that need to be worked 

through. A position I stated in the second joint statement was that 

balance will need to be achieved in each case between retaining the 

functioning of the strategic transport networks and suitable functioning 35 

of the KACs.   

 

 As a result of this tension, the cumulative assessment of effects is 

required to allow informed decision to be drawn on where the balance 

should be drawn in each case.   40 

 

 In terms of parking, my evidence notes some of the conflicting issues 

that need to be considered before concluding whether parking should 

be included within an ITA.  I fully accept that parking normally forms 

part of an ITA as there is a relationship between level of parking and 45 

several other matters included within an ITA. 
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 However, I support the proposal that the ITA should include the extent 

to which car parking spaces depart from the minimum number of car 

parks required, according to the parking rules, and whether such 

departure mitigates adverse effects.  Thank you. 5 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Winchester? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [11.13 am] 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you, sir. Good morning Mr Clark. Now, just 

reading through your evidence,  you talked about where you had got to 

with the Council and the Council’s evidence, and you make some 

reference to the different congestion experienced in Christchurch as 

against Auckland, and you are talking about thresholds for high trip 15 

generator activities in that context.   

 

 Now, I just want to ask you in terms of where we have got to with the 

high trip generator thresholds in Christchurch, they are now 

considerably higher than they were in the Operative Plan, aren’t they? 20 

 

MR CLARK:   That is the case, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and given that, that’s weakened the case for higher 

thresholds to be applied to Key Activity Centres in particular, hasn’t it? 25 

 

MR CLARK:   That is my position, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Yes.  And I think in your summary of your evidence you 

talked about Key Activity Centres as being a focal point for activities 30 

and traffic.  But you would agree that in terms of the sensitivity of 

KACs they are particularly sensitive areas in terms of the ability to 

manage traffic.   

 

  [11.15 am] 35 

 

MR CLARK: Yes, I am accepting that by concentrating activities you therefore 

by definition expect a measure of congestion. 

 

MR WINCHESTER: Yes, and do you think in terms of the underlying 40 

intention of a KAC there is a balance required to manage its role as an 

attractor of people and traffic, and the consequential adverse effects of 

that additional traffic? 
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MR CLARK:  That is exactly the point, sir, I am saying there is no ‘one size 

fits all’ solution.  One needs to get good accessibility, preferably by all 

modes, and that begins where the balancing act comes in.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you. Just in terms of an integrated transport 5 

network, I think you have referred to the evidence of Mr Richards 

about a one network approach that NZTA applies, you understand that 

that’s not just looking at state highways but how state highways 

function in relation to the rest of the transport network. 

 10 

MR CLARK:   Yes, I did, yes.  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you have supported an exception from controlled 

activity status for the need to prepare an ITA if access is onto a state 

highway or relates to the KiwiRail rail network.   15 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and just thinking about that integrated approach, is 

there any material difference in terms of the way the network functions 20 

between applying that approach to a state highway as against a major 

arterial road and the Council’s network, for example Memorial Avenue 

heading out to the airport? 

 

MR CLARK:   There is suggestion around KiwiRail and the Transport Agency 25 

being consulted with really cross-reference into another part of Chapter 

7.  I fully accept that there are some major arterials that probably carry 

more traffic than some lower traffic state highways, and therefore there 

are some very important major arterial roads, and it could be the case 

that could be further exception.   30 

 

MR WINCHESTER: Yes, thank you.  That was going to be my question.  

Thank you for that.  Sorry, I just want to return to the issue of Key 

Activity Centres and cumulative effects.   

 35 

 And you have stressed I think at paragraphs 12.8 and 12.9 of your 

evidence, and in your summary, that “it is important to consider the 

cumulative effects of traffic generation and associated impacts on Key 

Activity Centres, that you can’t simply disregard them.”  That is your 

evidence? 40 

 

MR CLARK:  That is my point, yes.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:  What I am interested in, Mr Clark, is when you have got 

a controlled activity status and it gives you the ability to impose 45 

conditions about a range of matters, there may be debate around the 
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breadth of those conditions and how far they can go. But as a controlled 

activity where you have to grant consent, how do you address 

cumulative effects from a transport perspective? 

 

MR CLARK:  So there is suggestion around controlled activities related to 5 

small applications, those covered by basic transport assessments, and 

one expects the scope of an assessment to be in keeping with the scope 

of the effect. 

 

 I did hear Mr Falconer say that some submitters have tried to define 10 

how far an assessment should go, and this is a case where discretion is 

required of early discussions, if there is a small development then the 

cumulative assessment shouldn’t go too far. If it is a larger 

development then it’s reasonable to say, well it maybe needs to go to 

the (INDISTINCT 4.36) that is the critical point.   15 

 

 So one should take into account there is norm methodology about 

taking into account all permitted developments that have not yet been 

implemented. You wouldn’t take into account fanciful or non, yet 

propose to argue it in the public domain or not consented, but one 20 

would take into account other known developments to establish the 

future permitted baseline. 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you.  And you would do that irrespective of the 

activity status? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER: And when you are thinking about, I suppose it is a 

question of risk because you talked about the difference between a 

small development and a larger development, is it your evidence that 

the risk in terms of cumulative effects is sufficiently low from a small 

development that you can have to grant consent but you can manage it, 35 

is that what is underlying your evidence? 

 

MR CLARK:   There may be a cumulative effect which you need to understand 

but you can only apportion blame or effect relative to the effect that the 

particular development causes and if we are talking about a small 40 

development then there is less risk that that particular development will 

cause a significant adverse effect that would warrant refusal. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Okay. Well, can we envisage a scenario where over time 

a number of small developments are consented in a KAC and the 45 

cumulative effects get to a point where it is actually approaching a 
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tipping point in terms of adverse impacts on the network or adverse 

impacts on the function and amenity of the Key Activity Centre, how 

then do you manage that in the absence of a large activity coming in 

and creating a significant impact? 

 5 

MR CLARK:   I do accept there is an issue when you have a series of small 

developments that together may have the same effect as one larger 

development. That is a problem with the current system and the 

caucusing did try to consider how we can take that into account and 

you can’t, it does fall between the cracks. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Yes, all right, thank you.  And just on the issue of car 

parking so I get it clear, you think that an assessment of car parking 

needs to be part of an integrated transport assessment? 

 15 

MR CLARK:   My evidence did traverse the pros and cons of that, I tried to 

give a balanced view.  Parking influences how many vehicle trips you 

have and therefore I have taken account of the joint witness statement 

on car parking, I did not attend that caucus session, which 

recommended minimum car parking.  And so the clause around parking 20 

currently suggests that it should be part of the ITA to the extent to 

which the proposal departs from the car parking standard.  So that is the 

proposal I support. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see.  So if an activity simply sticks with the formula as 25 

set out in the plan then you don’t go further but if it undersupplies or 

oversupplies you consider the impact at that stage? 

 

MR CLARK: I was always hoping that there will be an ability for 

encouragement of reduced parking where it can be reasonably 30 

demonstrated being appropriate.  So if you come in with a development 

that you are below the parking requirement and you can demonstrate 

good reasons for that and that it encourages more active mode and 

public transport use, that is where the ITA is integrated and you are 

demonstrating the car mode share requirement against the other modes.  35 

So, yes, if there is a good reason for providing less parking I would 

support that. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, all right.  But otherwise you are just content to go 

with a formula or standards based approach and if that is complied with 40 

you are satisfied that that produces an adequate result? 

 

MR CLARK:   Again I did not take part in the car parking expert witness 

conference but that was the position they go to.  The very first 

agreement refers to there is acceptance that minimum car parking 45 
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standards are the way to go for Christchurch at this point in time and 

the suggestion it was too early to bring in other approaches. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Yes.  Well, I am not trying to trip you up here, Mr Clark, 

but you are an independent expert for the Crown and you must have 5 

formed a view and so I have asked what I thought was a simple 

question, can you please answer it. 

 

  [11.25 am] 

 10 

 Is it your opinion and your evidence to the Panel that if an applicant 

simply complies with the formula, in terms of a car parking standard, 

then it is acceptable not to go any further and it produces an acceptable 

outcome, is that your evidence? 

 15 

MR CLARK:  For a normal use then the parking standards should be 

appropriate. The issue I have heard from Mr Falconer and others is that, 

for example, there is a wide range of retail so I can imagine there 

would be a case for the Council to be concerned if they thought a 

particular retail proposal did not work with just applying the formula.  20 

So there could be cases for looking further. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, that is helpful.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 25 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 30 

DR MITCHELL:  Thank you, sir.  Good morning, Mr Clark.  I just want to 

understand this undersupply versus oversupply of car parking issue a 

little bit with you.  In relation to questions from Mr Winchester you 

were talking about it may be appropriate for a particular activity to 

provide less car parking than the standard and I took from your answer 35 

that that is something that the proponent of the project is “I don’t need 

as many car parks as this because of these factors so I can have a less 

number of car parks than the standard would impose”.   

 

 What about the flipside of that where the Council might be looking to 40 

promote public transport or other forms of modal transport, can you see 

a scenario where the Council as a condition of consent, as opposed to 

something that an applicant would propose, to limit the number of car 

parks below the standard? 

 45 
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MR CLARK:   Again, taking into account the comments earlier relative to the 

phrase in the plan around reducing car modes, I didn’t see this 

particular clause as being the stick trying to force people out of the car.  

I saw it being if you are encouraging more public transport, walking 

and cycling and by definition you do lead to a reduction in the other 5 

modes.   

 

 Again I have heard from the caucusing there is a desire here to enable 

developments and therefore to be too rigid on the stick and to overly 

reduce car parking may be against that objective at this stage, which is 10 

why there is a desire for a certain quantum of car parking to allow the 

development to be attractive rather than normally you would be seeking 

to try and be more aligned towards the stick as well as carrot. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I think in terms of your evidence I am keen to understand 15 

what you think as opposed to commenting on what the caucusing has 

come up with because you weren’t at it and I am wanting to understand 

your view.  Are you saying that you don’t support an approach 

whereby the Council could impose against the proponents wishes a 

reduction in car parking below the minimum standard specified in the 20 

plan? 

 

MR CLARK:   It sounds to me it would be contrary to the enabling spirit of the 

plan. 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   So you wouldn’t support it? 

 

MR CLARK:   Not the normal situation though it could be an exception, but 

generally no. 

 30 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  And just secondly, on a related matter, 

there has been talk about oversupply and undersupply which tends to 

suggest to me that the objective is to hit the magic number whatever the 

magic number is.  What is the effect on the transport network of an 

oversupply of car parking if it is not utilised? 35 

 

MR CLARK:  There is probably not an effect on the traffic side of the 

argument.  You may end up with very large parking you don’t need 

which may lead to larger walking distances which could then not allow 

you to encourage the active modes. I am aware that the urban designers 40 

don’t like large banks of empty car parking space as well so there could 

be a transport effect and an urban design effect rather than a traffic 

effect. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 45 
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SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, one question.  Good morning, Mr Clark.  Just 

we have heard quite a bit of evidence around minimum parking and in 

one person’s evidence there was actually a graph showing oversupply 5 

and undersupply relative to the mean.  What I would like to ask you is 

in your experience and based on the evidence that exists for 

Christchurch, for instance, how difficult is it to set an appropriate level 

of minimum parking? 

 10 

  [11.30 am] 

 

MR CLARK:  If you think about the retail situation there is a broad range of 

parking demand, often you see a transport assessment coming in with 

evidence of other sites for a particular operator, let’s say it is a 15 

Bunnings or a Mitre 10, but the consent relates to retail of a particular 

type, so therefore it could be relatively easy to provide some sites 

around a particular operator, but if you can’t guarantee that over time 

that won’t then be sold on to a different retailer that is also permitted, 

then it is more difficult.  So it is a fair degree of range within the land 20 

use types.   

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  But could you specify that range in the plan for 

different types of uses? I mean you don’t have to have one size fits all, 

do you? 25 

 

MR CLARK:  The plan does refer to more than one parking standard in the 

case of retail, but there is a certain degree of variability, it is not an 

exact science. 

 30 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  So the answer to the question is that it is difficult to 

set a minimum parking? 

 

MR CLARK:  It is fairly difficult.   

 35 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Thank you.   

 

SJH:  Mr Clark, you refer to congestion in Auckland being worse and that 

thresholds here should be lower, the Auckland situation is really 

dealing with, because of a lack of planning in the past, a traffic horse 40 

that is well and truly bolted, isn’t it? 

 

MR CLARK:  I certainly wasn’t trying to suggest we should be copying 

Auckland, they have got some good lessons to learn from.   

 45 
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SJH:  So we want to ensure that our thresholds are high enough that we don’t 

end up in an Auckland situation. 

 

MR CLARK:  The thresholds are slightly lower in most cases. 

 5 

SJH:  But you are confident they are high enough to not end up in an Auckland 

situation, once we get through the post-earthquake mess. 

 

MR CLARK:  There is many reasons why Auckland’s got in this current 

situation, the size means it is difficult - - - 10 

 

SJH:  Please don’t go into that, I don’t need to know that.  Just your comments 

at 12.5 around KACs, the real point of your evidence, which I think 

you stated quite clearly in your C, is that there is a danger in the views 

of the experts you point out at A and B, that what they seek is not going 15 

to be a properly integrated approach, isn’t it? 

 

MR CLARK:  That is correct, you need to consider both the functioning of the 

network as well as the needs of the development. 

 20 

SJH:  Thank you.  Anything arising, Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:  Anything arising or any re-examination, Ms McIndoe? 25 

 

MS McINDOE:  No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:  Thank you, Mr Clark, you may stand down and we will take the morning 

adjournment for 15 minutes, thank you. 30 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.33 am] 

 

ADJOURNED [11.33 am] 

 35 

RESUMED [11.52 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, Ms McIndoe. 

 

MS McINDOE:   Thank you, sir, the Crown calls Ms Ainsley McLeod. 40 
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<AINSLEY McLEOD, sworn [11.52 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS McINDOE [11.52 am] 

 

MS McINDOE:  Just to bring to your attention, sir, Ms McLeod also acts for 

Transpower who is a submitter on the Replacement Plan but is not 

involved in this proposal. 5 

 

SJH:   And the same with Fire Services, they’re involved, but there’s no longer 

evidence required from them. 

 

MS McINDOE:   They have evidence but - - - 10 

 

SJH:   Well the evidence is on the books but you’re not addressing it today. 

 

MS McINDOE:  That’s right, sir, that’s right. Can you please confirm that your 

full name is Ainsley Jean McLeod? 15 

 

MS McLEOD:   It is. 

 

MS McINDOE:   And that you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

your evidence filed for the Strategic Directions’ chapter and that 20 

evidence was dated 25 November 2014? 

 

MS McLEOD:   I do. 

 

MS McINDOE:   Do you have any corrections to make to your evidence? 25 

 

MS McLEOD:   No, I don’t. 

 

MS McINDOE:  Can you please confirm that your evidence is true and correct 

to the best of your knowledge? 30 

 

MS McLEOD:   I do. 

 

MS McINDOE:  Can you please now present your summary or your highlights 

and answer any questions. 35 

 

MS McLEOD:  Thank you. My evidence is in relation to the relief sought by 

the Transport Agency in its submission and further submissions on 

proposal 7. Mr Richards has broadly summarised the content of the 

Agency’s submission and I won’t repeat that. Rather I’ll restrict the 40 

summary to the areas of disagreement between submitters by reference 

to the joint memorandum of counsel dated 26 June 2015.  These areas 

of disagreement are primarily in relation to the provisions for high trip 

generating activities. 

 45 
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 Beginning with policy 2 I support the joint memorandum version of the 

policy but note that the joint memorandum records disagreement in 

terms of whether the policy should refer to parking oversupply and 

whether the term “planned infrastructure” should be replaced with 

“committed infrastructure.”   5 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 

 I support the retention of the term “planned infrastructure” in policy 2.  

This is because this is the term used in the RPS including in policy 10 

6.3.5 and because it aligns with the intent of ITAs being a consideration 

of how high trip generating activities integrate with the existing and 

future transport networks and upgrades.   

 

 Conversely I don’t consider that the term “committed” provides any 15 

further clarity and potentially creates more questions in terms of what 

“committed” means. For instance is new or improved transport 

infrastructure committed at the time funding is secured for RMA 

approvals or when those approvals are obtained?   

 20 

 What if no planning approval is needed for instance for upgrades 

within the existing corridor? 

 

 Is committed only when construction funding is secured or when 

construction begins, at which point the opportunity for integration and 25 

coordination may have passed. 

 

 In my evidence I have suggested the inclusion of specific reference to 

key strategic transport planning documents in the assessment matters 

that apply to high trip generating activities. This is to provide additional 30 

guidance and clarity in terms of what may be considered planned. 

 

 In terms of parking and the reference to oversupply in policy 2, the 

appropriateness of this clause rests with the way in which parking is 

addressed for high trip generating activities.  In this regard I support the 35 

exclusion of high trip generating activities from the minimum parking 

standards and I support the consideration of parking as part of an ITA.  

It is therefore my opinion that the reference to oversupply should be 

retained. 

 40 

 It is counter intuitive to manage high trip generating activities through 

an ITA framework as required by the RPS without the ability to fully 

consider parking in a locational and activity specific way.  

Remembering of course that the provisions are to address sequential 

developments as it is put in the RPS that can result in significant 45 

transport effects.   
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 To do otherwise reduces the integrated nature of an ITA and serves to 

narrow what I understand through my review of various ITA guidance 

documents to be typically considered in an ITA.   

 5 

 In order to address concerns about the lack of certainty raised by a 

number of submitters I have suggested that reference be made to the 

minimum parking standards in the assessment matters for high trip 

generating activities so that there is clarity that the minimum standards 

will serve as a guide. This is included in the joint memorandum version 10 

of the provisions. 

 

 I turn now to activity status and non-notification direction.  I support 

controlled activity status in situations where an activity is permitted in 

the zone it is located but not where it exceeds the thresholds in table 7.1 15 

or has direct access to a state highway or across a railway line. 

 

 This is consistent with the expert witness’ view that activities that fall 

between the trigger ITA threshold and the full ITA threshold would not 

present a significant risk to the transport network if considered as a 20 

controlled activity. 

 

 Conversely I understand the Council witnesses have concerns that 

controlled activity status may compromise outcomes by limiting the 

ability for the Council to modify an activity where there are for 25 

instance potential safety impacts.   

 

 In my opinion, the matters over which control is reserved can address 

the concerns addressed by Council’s witnesses through careful drafting.  

My evidence suggests such matters for control that are aligned to the 30 

related assessment matters although I acknowledge that these may 

benefit from further refinement to address Council’s concerns. 

 

 I support the approach to notification included in the joint 

memorandum provisions to the extent that the ability to notify an 35 

application is reserved where written approval is not provided by the 

Transport Agency. Beyond this the joint memorandum records 

consideration of whether a further non-notification direction could be 

included in relation to network effects by reference to the network 

effects assessment matter. In my opinion, linking notification to an 40 

assessment matter is problematic and I favour a clear straightforward 

direction as to notification rather than seeking to craft such a direction 

to address every possible scenario as opposed to relying on direction in 

sections 95A, B and D of the Act. 

 45 
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 It is my conclusion that together the approach to controlled activity 

status and notification supported in my evidence strikes a balance 

between managing the effects of high trip generating activities while 

recognising and to some extent incentivising the location of high trip 

generating activities where they are anticipated including in key 5 

activity centres. 

 

 Such an approach appropriately implements policy 2 and the objectives 

included in the Strategic Directions decision and particularly objectives 

3.3.1 and 3.3.7. 10 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

 In terms of the assessment matters in 7.3.19, the joint memorandum 

records two areas of disagreement, the assessment of impact of site 15 

access and manoeuvring on the amenity values of surrounding areas 

and the extent of assessment for network effects where an activity is 

otherwise permitted. 

 

 In my view high trip generating activities that exceed the thresholds in 20 

table 7.1 have the potential to have significant network impacts on 

higher order roads and therefore it is not appropriate. It is appropriate 

to assess and mitigate these effects, whether an activity is otherwise 

permitted or not. 

 25 

 The scope and geographic extent of an ITA is driven by the 

circumstances of the activity, site and receiving environment, this is 

confirmed by the Transport Agency’s ITA guidelines and is better 

addressed in the scoping phase of ITAs that is clearly set out in ITA 

guidance documents. 30 

 

 Further I consider that the amendment included in the joint 

memorandum version that insets reference to whether an activity is 

permitted by the zone in which it is located goes someway to 

addressing the concerns of some submitters. 35 

 

 I also support the retention of the reference to impacts on amenity 

values of the surrounding area in the assessment matters. In this regard 

I particularly note the Transport Agency’s ITA guidelines state and I 

quote: “The ITA should assess the environmental capacity of streets 40 

affected by the proposal and the overall environmental outcomes 

provided by the proposal, including increased or decreased traffic 

kilometres travelled, noise, glare, vibrations and severance.” 

 

 As a final matter I note that Mr Phillips version of proposal 7 includes 45 

amendments to objective 1. I understand these amendments are 
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promoted to avoid repetition and provide clarity. These amendments 

delete a reference to “goods” that were included in response to Crown 

submission. My evidence supports the Council’s version of objective 1 

and the retention of the reference to “goods” because it better describes 

the role of the transport system and the regional economy and is 5 

consistent with policy 6.3.5 of the RPS. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Winchester. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [12.02 pm] 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you, sir, afternoon, Ms McLeod. Firstly, I just 

want to clarify with you, your understanding of the current approach to 

high traffic generators under the operative plan they’re restricted 

discretionary across the board? 15 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and in terms of where the Council has got to with 

the position before the Panel at the moment, is higher thresholds in 20 

terms of the high traffic generators, so in that respect it is perhaps less 

prescriptive than the current operative approach? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, I accept that. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:  Yes, but it just doesn’t go far enough from your point of 

view? 

 

MS McLEOD:   No. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you. All right, now I ask the question of Mr 

Clark about the acception for State Highways and access of high traffic 

generators on the State Highways and which cross the KiwiRail rail 

network, is your view the same as Mr Clark’s that from a “one 

network” perspective, you could readily include major arterial roads as 35 

being strategic infrastructure? 

 

MS McLEOD:  Yes, I’d agree with that, and certainly I reference to strategic 

directions’ decision and the strategic infrastructure objectives. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you, and in terms of, how far down the hierarchy 

of roads you think would be appropriate, how far down would you go 

to a minor arterial? 

 

MS McLEOD:  My starting point there would be to rely on the definition I 45 

think of strategic transport network. 
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MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you. Now I want to ask you a question, given that 

answer about what might be termed “a perverse incentive,” if you 

single out strategic infrastructure for a higher level of regulation, can 

you foresee any risk that applicants might go to local roads with a 5 

lower level of regulation – say controlled activities – and seek to obtain 

access for high traffic generating activities off those? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, I accept that’s an outcome that could occur and in some 

cases that maybe the appropriate outcome, a controlled activity status 10 

with appropriate matters for control can address that appropriately. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, but you accept that there’s a potential risk in terms 

of the way applicants approach the planning document and I think 

we’ve had plenty of evidence about applicants tailoring their activities 15 

to deal with different activity statuses, so you accept that? 

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, I accept that, yes. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. Finally, I want to ask you a question around 

how to manage a proposal if it’s a controlled activity and the Council 

wants to impose a condition which may change the way the application 

has been framed. 25 

 

 Now you’re an experience planner and you’ve had plenty of experience 

in the Christchurch scene, say for example an application came in and 

the proposed access was deemed by the Council to be too close to an 

intersection and created a safety risk and the Council under a controlled 30 

activity status said, “You have to shift the access to the opposite end of 

the property, the furthest possible extent away from the intersection,” 

conceptually you understand that? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Right. Do you foresee or have you had any experience of 

that requirement actually changing fundamentally the way the 

application and the activity is proposed by an applicant? 

 40 

MS McLEOD:  I haven’t had any particular experience in a situation like the 

scenario you’ve put to me. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Yes, you can foresee though, can’t you, depending upon 

the nature and form of the activity, changing where the access to a site 45 
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is permitted or is allowed by way of a condition, might result in 

substantial reconfiguration of the activity within the site, might it not? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, I agree. 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thanks, sir. 10 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Thank you, sir. Just a couple of questions from me please, 

Ms McLeod, the first one relates to policy 2 and this issue about 15 

whether the infrastructure is planned or committed, and I think that’s 

sort of highlighted in my consciousness a little bit by the Cranford 

Street situation that’s existed the other day. We have had considerable 

evidence in other hearings about how the northern arterial is 

fundamental to the development of the centre’s based approach in the 20 

north-western part of the city. 

 

 That norther arterial, under the definition that you have proposed, is 

still planned, but it’s not - - -  

 25 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL: - - - but it’s now not – I don’t think it’s ever been committed 

– it’s not committed as yet, certainly from the Council’s point of view 

it’s not and I don’t think - - -  30 

 

MS McLEOD: Well I think the northern arterial remains planned and 

committed, depending on the definition of committed, but the northern 

– I think Mr Richards yesterday said that the northern arterial 

component is still on the books from the Transport Agency’s 35 

perspective. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  But can we rely on that in terms of implementing the centres 

based approach without it being committed to in the sense of, the 

funding hasn’t been made available, the designs haven’t been 40 

completed, there’s no commencement date for construction, there’s no 

contract left, etcetera, at least as I understand it. 

 

 Given that the whole integration of transport with land use, it’s 

fundamental to the implementation of the plan, isn’t there a strength in 45 

the argument of saying that core infrastructure needs to be pretty much 
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guaranteed before you can make the sorts of decisions that you’re 

seeking to make? 

 

MS McLEOD:  It’s difficult because of course there’s also an obligation that to 

not be inconsistent with documents like for instance the LURP where 5 

both the northern arterial and the northern arterial extension are 

identified, so all those planning documents haven’t changed on the 

basis of a decision by the Council. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But - - -  10 

 

MS McLEOD:   But my concern is, “committed” doesn’t provide a greater 

level of clarity, it could mean any number of things, committed could 

mean “designations are in place,” committed could mean “it’s in a 

government policy statement,” committed could mean that SODs 15 

already turned. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 

 Projects are funded in phases and I guess even to say “committed” 20 

means funded, it is what level of the project is funded, how is it 

procured, all of those sort of matters would come into it as well.  I am 

not sure it adds clarity. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Don’t you think though that the important, I mean the people 25 

proposing to access a new KAC, for example, or the cars or the people, 

they don’t read the LURP, I mean the only way that the LURP can be 

given effect to isn’t by a planning document, it is by the asset being 

built. And if the asset isn’t built or committed to being built, accepting 

the point that what “committed” means, doesn’t that bring the whole 30 

centres based approach in relation to that geographical area into 

question?  Because there is no guarantee at all that any of that Northern 

Arterial, as I understand it, will in fact be constructed and be able to be 

utilised by the KACs that are proposed in that area.  So how could we, 

in an integrated way, say give a green light to all these KACs in the 35 

hope that the Transport Agency commits to that the project and the 

hope that the Cranford Street extension is finally funded by the 

Council? 

 

MS McLEOD:  I accept that it is quite a predicament.  I am not sure committed 40 

solves the problem.  It may provide a greater degree of contemplation 

about how planned is planned. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But planning doesn’t solve any problem, it just means that 

someone has identified the need to do it and the Northern Arterial, as I 45 

would understand it, there is a permission to enable it to be built going 
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through the system but it may or may not happen.  And if it doesn’t 

happen doesn’t that throw the whole transport management scenario for 

the north-west on its ear? 

 

MS McLEOD:  It could, I am not sure that the full implications of the 5 

Council’s decision have been contemplated yet. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  All right. 

 

SJH:   What, by the NZTA or the Council? 10 

 

MS McLEOD:   Probably both. 

 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 15 

DR MITCHELL:   Sorry, sir, that was that topic, I haven’t quite finished if I 

may.  In terms of the controlled activity rule and talking about 

oversupply of parking, Mr Clark made mention of the fact that he 

thought that the purpose of that rule was primarily to enable a 

developer to say “I don’t need as many parks as the minimum standard 20 

because of the nature of my activity” as opposed to being the stick 

approach that a Council might use to say, “We don’t want you to 

provide as many car parks as you want to provide”.  Is that the 

intention of the drafting that you have provided, it is to enable an 

applicant to seek an exemption rather than for a Council to exercise 25 

control in actively reducing the number of car parks sought? 

 

MS McLEOD:   I see it in a more comprehensive way perhaps where we have 

a direction in the RPS that says that integrated transport assessments 

are required.  The RPS also directs a number of the matters you have 30 

asked questions about before around the reduction of dependency on 

vehicles.  The rule as drafted attempts to capture all of that and enable 

only those activities that generate a significant amount of traffic to be 

contemplated in a site specific, environment specific way that seeks to 

achieve a really good balance and an integrated transport assessment. 35 

 

 I think we are talking about some relatively unique activities that have 

a high number of vehicle trips.  It enables the contemplation about the 

best way that activity fits, wherever it may be in zone or out of zone, 

and delivers benefits to the network, the Council in terms of the local 40 

roads and the developer too in terms of the most optimised approach to 

transport. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I am not sure that that answers my question. 

 45 

MS McLEOD:   I am sorry. 
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DR MITCHELL: My question was do you think it is necessary for the Council 

to be able to reserve either control or discretion over reducing the 

number of car parks below that which a proponent might consider to be 

necessary for their activity? 5 

 

MS McLEOD:   Sorry, I am just - - - 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Well, let me give you an example.   

 10 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL: Applicant comes along and says, “I want to build a 

supermarket.” The minimum number of car parks the supermarket 

needs is, I don’t know, 250 according to the rule and they say, “I don’t 15 

think I need 250 for the supermarket, I think we only need 200 because 

of x. y, z factors”.  That is the applicant providing a case to reduce the 

number and the Council may or may not agree to that. 

 

  [12.15 pm] 20 

 

 What about the scenario of the proponent saying, “I want to put 250 car 

parks into my supermarket in accordance with the permitted rule” and 

the Council for integrated transport reasons is saying, “No, we are 

imposing a condition limiting the number of car parks to 200”.  Is that 25 

the intention of the integrated transport assessment rule? 

 

MS McLEOD:  No, I don’t think it is the intention, I think it is to give 

comprehensive consideration about the activity and the transport 

network. 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:  All right. And, just finally, you heard the questions that I 

asked earlier of Mr Clark regarding 7.3.19 clause 3 about minimising 

private vehicles and encouraging modal transport.  Actually it was 

Mr Falconer I am sorry.  The intention was for the encouragement and 35 

minimisation to be on an equal footing and that one is being 

encouraged and the other one is not being encouraged.  You would 

agree that there may need to be some wording amendment to make it 

clear that minimising private vehicle use is not on a level playing field 

with the encouragement provision in the rest of that clause? 40 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, I accept that and I did review particularly in relation to 

the change from “minimise” to “reduce” is in the joint memorandum 

version.  And the term reduction is consistent with the term used in the 

RPS however the RPS talks about reducing dependency rather than 45 

reducing the need and that is a slight nuance that may be useful. 
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DR MITCHELL:   All right, that is fine, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 5 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   One question, sir.   

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, thank you. 10 

 

SJH:   Oh, you did have a question, sorry. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Just one.  Good afternoon, Ms McLeod.  With respect 

to controlled activity status and the basic ITA category, not those that 15 

exceed the threshold in 7.1, by your submission it is required that it be 

controlled so that there is a permissive regulatory regime where 

activities are anticipated in zone, that was basically what I thought you 

said? 

 20 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So could you explain your reasons for not extending 

controlled activity status to those activities in that category accessing 

the state highway directly? 25 

 

MS McLEOD:   It goes to the answer I gave Mr Winchester before, it is around 

the strategic importance and the fact that high trip generating activities 

could compromise the efficiency of state highways and they have 

recognition as being more important higher order roads.  It also links I 30 

guess to the fact that there are limited access roads and separate 

controls on state highways, reducing side friction and a number of 

matters you heard about from Mr Richards yesterday. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you. 35 

 

SJH:   Mr Winchester, anything arising? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, no, sir. 

 40 

SJH:   Is there anything arising or re-examination? 

 

MS McINDOE:   Nothing, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms McLeod, you may stand down.  Ms Appleyard? 45 
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<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.18 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Sir, now in the interests of efficiency some of the 

witnesses for CIAL and LPC are shared with the witnesses that are 

being called by Mr Leckie and that is in particular Mr Chrystal, so he is 5 

giving evidence and one brief of evidence.   

 

 In relation to the traffic experts and arising out of the mediation and the 

submitters’ version, as I understand it, again in the interests of 

efficiency, various of the traffic experts are dealing with various topics.  10 

I think they all support the submitters’ versions but it has been split up 

so that not all of them are commentating on anything.   

 

 So I have had a discussion with Mr Leckie and we have a suggestion 

for a slight tweak to the batting order that may be more efficient.  15 

Given that Mr Chrystal is a witness for a number of parties we were 

wondering perhaps whether Mr Leckie might open now.  I don’t have 

anything to add to my written submissions.  We might call Mr Chrystal 

who is giving evidence for a number of parties for Mr Leckie’s clients 

and my clients and then we will deal with Ms Head and Mr Metherell 20 

consecutively as they are both the same expertise. 

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes that’s fine. 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  So I don’t have anything to add to the written submissions 

that were lodged last night but Mr Leckie may have a few points to 

make. 

 30 

SJH:   I’ll just check if there’s any questions.  Is there any question from those? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Leckie do you wish to open and then call Mr Chrystal? 

 40 

MR LECKIE:   Thank you sir, yes. 

 

SJH:   You know that we haven’t received anything in writing from you yet. 

 

MR LECKIE:   Yes, I filed some submissions last night but I have hard copies 45 

here.   
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SJH:   Yes, thank you. 

 

MR LECKIE:   Thank you, sir.  I don’t propose to read these submissions out 

given that the issues and relief sought by Progressive and the other 5 

submissions are pretty well defined and have been refined through the 

conferencing and subsequent discussions. What I thought I would just 

highlight as Ms McLeod has, is that given the multiple witnesses 

supporting the submitted version they’ve split the tasks in the evidence. 

 10 

 So at paragraph 7 of my legal submissions I’ve just outlined the experts 

that Progressive will rely on in relation to their submission and that is 

Mr Chrystal, Mr Weatherall and also Ms Head and Mr Fuller, 

Mr Phillips, Mr Edwards, and I’ve omitted sorry, the Panel to add, 

Ms Muirson, who has given evidence on the ITA thresholds and they 15 

were agreed very early on in the conferencing process so 

Mr Weatherall has relied on Ms Muirson’s submissions. 

 

 So as I say I don’t propose to read these out unless the Panel have any 

questions.  I’ll call Mr Chrystal. 20 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No questions, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Call Mr Chrystal, please. 

 25 

MR LECKIE:  So Mr Chrystal has prepared evidence on behalf of the Kiwi 

Group, Progressive, Bunnings, the Airport, the Port, Waterloo, Catholic 

Diocese, Alpine Presbytery and the Methodist Church. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 30 
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<DEAN MICHAEL CHRYSTAL, sworn [12.22 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LECKIE [12.22 pm] 

 

MR LECKIE:   Good afternoon, Mr Chrystal. 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   Afternoon. 5 

 

MR LECKIE:  Could you please confirm your full name is Dean Michael 

Chrystal? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   That’s correct. 10 

 

MR LECKIE:   And you’ve prepared a statement of evidence for this chapter 

dated 10 June? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   That’s correct, yes. 15 

 

MR LECKIE:   And you’ve set out your qualifications and experience between 

paragraphs 1 and 10 of that statement? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   Yes. 20 

 

MR LECKIE:   And you confirm that that statement’s true and correct to the 

best of your knowledge and belief? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   Yes. 25 

 

MR LECKIE:   Could you please present your highlights package and answer 

any questions? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:  Thank you and good afternoon Panel.  My evidence dated 30 

10 June covered matters specifically relating to objective 1 policy 2, the 

recognition of existing activities at both a policy and rule level, a new 

policy addressing strategic transport infrastructure, a controlled activity 

status for in zone basic integrated traffic assessments, and a non-

notification and no written approvals’ approach to in zone ITAs at both 35 

a basic and full ITA level.   

 

 Since that evidence was drafted further mediation has taken place and a 

joint statement was issued on 26 June. Of the issues covered in my 

evidence a number have been partially or fully agreed by planning 40 

witnesses including myself in the joint statement. 

 

 The remaining issues stemming from my evidence are related to the 

high traffic generator provisions and are a controlled activity status for 

in zone basic integrated traffic assessments and notification provisions 45 

for in zone development. 
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 In my opinion, including a controlled activity status for the smaller in 

zone activities captured by the ITG rule, ie those under rule 7.2.3.10, 

and non-notification no written approvals for other permitted activities 

better achieves the intent of the statement of expectations and objective 5 

3.3.2 of the Strategic Directions’ chapter and importantly provides 

greater encouragement for otherwise permitted in zone development. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 10 

 While not specifically covered in my evidence of remaining 

outstanding issues, I do not support the reference to oversupply of 

parking in policy 2H, nor the setting of minimum parking requirements 

for activities other than high traffic generators and for parking for high 

traffic generated activities and therefore to be determined through the 15 

ITA process. In my opinion, this will create levels of uncertainty, 

particularly at the design phase of a development. 

 

 Turning to the issue in policy 2G of planned versus committed, I prefer 

the word “committed” and I have also considered whether “financially 20 

committed” might also be another option there.  I think whichever word 

is used it needs to be clear that it’s related to infrastructure 

development which is foreseeable.  Christchurch has had a long history 

of for example designations which have taken many years to come to 

fruition and in some cases they never have.   25 

 

 I remain unclear as to what amenity values in assessment matter 2 will 

be assessed as part of the ITA beyond those that would normally be 

assessed as part of a wider resource consent application such as noise 

and glare and the like. The assessment matter is limited to amenity 30 

values of access and manoeuvring and I note that both the noise section 

of the Operative Plan and the phase 2 plan specifically exclude traffic 

noise generated on the roads themselves.   

 

 I consider that there should be some clearer distinction as to the extent 35 

of assessment for network effects required between in zone and outer 

zone activities.   

 

 And finally, I consider due to the scale of the high traffic generator rule 

and its component parts, it would be better and more user friendly if it 40 

were brought together in a more cohesive way, in particular bringing 

together the two threshold tables I think would be a good move. 

 

 Just one final matter, and Dr Mitchell raised this earlier, and that’s in 

relation to what is now assessment matter 3.  And this is something I 45 

think from my point of view, and in terms that this has slipped through 
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the cracks a little, there was a version – and I perhaps can refer you to 

either the mediation attachment B or Mr Phillips’ evidence – there is a 

different version of that assessment matter in there which was 

supported by the submitters which talks about maximising 

opportunities where practical.  That I think in my view would address 5 

the concerns that Dr Mitchell was raising.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Winchester. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [12.28 pm] 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Afternoon, Mr Chrystal. 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   Good afternoon. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:  A couple of matters. Now my understanding of your 

evidence is that your preference is to simply have a set of standards 

which apply to car parking and that they simply apply across the board 

and you take car parking out of the equation for an ITA.  Is that your 

evidence? 20 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:  No. I accept that car parking which falls below the 

threshold could be could be considered as part of an ITA. My concern 

is the car parking that goes the other direction. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Understood, thank you for that.  Sorry, I’m trying to get 

up to speed with things.  Now in terms of the statement of expectations, 

and I think you’ve made reference to objective 3.3.2 of the Strategic 

Directions’ chapter, now they are designed to reduce the number, 

extent and prescriptiveness of controls.   30 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   Correct, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you see a tension between what you are suggesting 

in terms of having a minimum car parking requirement – prescribed 35 

requirement – and some of those higher order directions? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   No, I don’t see any tension there. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Right. 40 

 

MR CHRYSTAL: I think it provides – the minimum requirement would 

provide certainty. 
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MR WINCHESTER:  I see. So you’re happy to have that minimum level 

prescribed which provides adequate certainty and it’s not in any way in 

conflict with the statement of expectations? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   Yes. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now I asked the question of Ms McLeod 

about controlled activity status and I’ll put the same to you.  In terms of 

say a development which is controlled and the Council has a concern 

about access and says to the applicant “under a controlled activity 10 

scenario, no, move to the other end of the site,” do you also accept that 

that requirement of the Council, if it was sought to be imposed by a 

condition, could have flow on implications for onsite development? 

 

  [12.30 pm] 15 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   I think you have to be quite careful there, because the Plan 

also has rules on access in terms of separation distances from 

intersections and things like that as well.  So if the Council is on the 

one hand saying “Well, no you can’t have the access in that point 20 

where it is actually in a location which is permitted by the distance rule 

for intersections” then I can’t see why you would then be looking to 

move it. 

 

 But let’s say that that does happen.  My experience with controlled 25 

activity is that’s what we are getting at, is that there are negotiations 

that do go on, and I have been involved in those in the past, and in all 

instances I have been involved in the developers have been quite 

prepared to discuss these matters with the Council.  So I am not quite 

sure that this stalemate situation that has been referred to, I have never 30 

come across it, I have never seen it occur. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  All right.  So you are reasonably confident then, and this 

is entirely hypothetical, that if the Council had a stipulation around a 

traffic matter and sought to impose a condition to that extent, the 35 

consequence of that would be initiation of a discussion and resolution 

achieved through sensible discussions.   

 

MR CHRYSTAL:  That has been my experience, yes. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   And if for example the Council stuck to its guns, it said 

“No, we absolutely require for safety reasons…,” or for whatever 

reason “…your access to go here” and that then changed the way the 

activity was proposed to be conducted on the site.  How then do you 

think that would be resolved? 45 
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MR CHRYSTAL:  I think that is quite a difficult one to resolve.  But as I come 

back to the point, is that there are other rules that are already setting 

some of those standards anyway.  So I think the Council would be in 

quite a weak position if it is saying you need to move an access 

somewhere else when it actually met the standards. 5 

 

 And let’s just come back to that, because I just want to make the point 

that the controlled activity status that is being proposed is for the basic 

ITA.  So it is not about the network effects, they have been ruled out of 

those basic ITAs for in-zone, it really is only about access, 10 

manoeuvring and stuff like that, so it is limited to those factors.  The 

sort of wider network effects have been excluded from that provision. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  I don’t think I was asking you to get into network 

effects, but - - - 15 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   No, I just wanted to make it clear. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  No, I understand your answer.  Thank you for that.  

Thank you, sir.  20 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms McIndoe? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS McINDOE [12.33 pm] 

 25 

MS McINDOE:  Thank you, sir.  Mr Chrystal, I am grateful for the witnesses 

and the submitter group for dividing the evidence amongst themselves, 

it certainly made for reduced reading.   

 

 But I do want to make sure I ask you questions about the right things, 30 

because I know that you have provided the topics amongst yourselves. 

 

 I wanted to ask you about the words “over-supply” in policy two.  And 

you commented on that in your brief oral summary that you gave.  Are 

you the right witness to ask about that? 35 

 

MR CHRYSTAL: It’s not in my evidence, no, but I am comfortable in 

answering - - - 

 

MS McINDOE:   It is not in anyone’s evidence, is it, so are you as good as any 40 

or? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   I am probably as good as any.   

 

MS McINDOE:  All right.  Okay.  If there was better witness I am happy to put 45 

it to that witness.  Now if we change the policy as you are suggesting, 
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take out the words “over-supply” then the policy would just require a 

discouragement of under-supply wouldn’t it? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   Yes. 

 5 

MS McINDOE:   And there would be no policy direction in relation to over-

supply? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   That is correct, yes. 

 10 

MS McINDOE:  There wouldn’t be a direction through the policies to consider 

the effects of an over-supply? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   No. 

 15 

MS McINDOE:   And you don’t see any difficulty to that from your position as 

a planner looking at an activity as a whole? 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 20 

MR CHRYSTAL:  No, I think for over-supply that really falls to the developer.  

If they want to provide more parking than is requirement then I think 

that is really their issue.  I know in working for Progressive, they have 

a figure that they worked to, and it is not likely to be similar to what the 

Council is proposing.  So they know what they need for their operation 25 

to work, and I think if that is more than what is being required, I have 

no problem with that.  

 

MS McINDOE:   But your position as an expert planning witness isn’t simply 

to endorse what your client might prefer, you are giving your expert 30 

judgement. 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:  No, I am giving you an example. Yes, and that is my expert 

judgement.  I am not sure what effects would be assessed for an over-

supply. 35 

 

MS McINDOE:   No further questions.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 40 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir.  

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Just one question I think.  In terms of, you 45 

can envisage a scenario where a proponent of a particular activity will 
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say “The standard car parking requirements don’t recognise the unique 

circumstances about my proposed activity, and instead of providing 

what the standard says I can provide a lesser of it.” 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:  Yes. 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Do you agree that that’s an appropriate approach for a 

developer to take? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:   Yes, and it often is taken. 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:   It often is taken.  Do you also have a view on the inverse of 

that, eg a proponent saying “I want to provide 250 car parks” and a 

Council saying, “Because we want to promote public transport or 

cycling or walking and so on so forth, we’re going to limit the number 15 

of carparks in your development to some lesser number” say 200.  Do 

you think that is an appropriate resource management approach to take? 

 

MR CHRYSTAL:  No I don’t.  I think that is something that should be left to 

the applicant or the developer to decide whether or not they want to 20 

provide more.  The cost is on them, and I am not sure what the adverse 

effect we are trying to address is.   

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right.  Thank you.  I have no further questions, sir.  

 25 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Mr Winchester? 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, thank you, sir.   

 

SJH:   Anything arising or re-examination? 

 35 

MS McINDOE:   No, thank you, sir.   

 

SJH:  Thank you Mr Chrystal, you may stand down.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.37 pm]  40 

 

SJH:   Now, I take it Ms Appleyard, we now to Ms Head, is that right? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  Ms Head and then followed by Mr Metherell.  I just 

wanted, because Ms Head is a bit nervous about this. The way the 45 

witnesses have broken up the topics is that they have broken up 
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between them to comment on various bits of the submitter’s version, so 

it may well be that if questions are asked of her it is more appropriately 

addressed to one of the others.  She will just indicate that. 

 

SJH:   Well, she just needs to tell us that and we recall - - - 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   It was just to avoid multiple briefs. 

 

SJH:   We will just manage that. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.   
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<ANNE MARIE HEAD, affirmed [12.38 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [12.38 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you confirm your full name is Anne Marie Head? 

 

MS HEAD:   I do. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

paragraphs 2.2.6 of your statement of evidence? 

 

MS HEAD:   Yes. 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And that statement of evidence, dated 10 June 2015 is 

true and correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 

MS HEAD:   It is.   15 

 

MS APPLEYARD: I will just ask you to confirm that on behalf of 

Christchurch International Airport Limited and Lyttelton Port 

Company Limited, you have participated in the conferencing sessions? 

 20 

MS HEAD:   I have. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And that you are familiar with the submitter’s version of 

the memorandum that has been produced? 

 25 

MS HEAD:   I am.  

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you wish to provide a summary of your evidence? 

 

MS HEAD:   Yes, please.   30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.   

 

MS HEAD:   The latest Transport Proposal included in the Joint Memorandum, 

filed on 27 June, has moved on significantly from the submitter’s 35 

version of the HTG rule on which my evidence was based. 

 

 So now I support the Transport Proposal as it now stands, aside from 

some specific matters that I will address shortly.  In summary, I support 

a high trip generator rule to ensure activities with the potential to have 40 

significant effects are planned and designed so they are appropriately 

integrated with the transport network.   

 

 I am now satisfied that the recognition of transport hubs as areas of 

high transport demand, and that effects should be managed rather than 45 

avoided has been adequately addressed by policies 2 and 9.   
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 There has been lots of talk this morning about allowing controlled 

activity status for smaller in-zone developments, and that is still an area 

of disagreement.  Although I believe the approach has merit, I believe it 

is predominantly a planning matter, and I will therefore not provide any 5 

further comment in this respect. 

 

  [12.40 pm] 

 

 So my outstanding areas of concern relate to two issues, car parking 10 

requirements for HTGs and specific assessment matters under the HTG 

rule, in particular the extent to which active and public transport can be 

encouraged and the consideration of network effects and the 

appropriate coverage of the transport assessment. 

 15 

 Turning to car parking requirements for HTGs, it is Council’s position 

that minimum parking requirements can lead to an under supply or 

oversupply of parking and that the proposed approach is necessary in 

order for an ITA to be a truly integrated assessment.  

 20 

 My first point is that an exact amount of parking to meet demand is 

very rarely achieved. I agree with Mr Roberts that there is a large 

variety of parking demand for activity types that is influenced by a 

range of factors. Often the ultimate users of a development are 

unknown at the time of consent application and users can change over 25 

the lifetime of an activity.  

 

 So I do not agree with Council’s assertion that an under or oversupply 

of parking can be avoided if a site specific assessment is undertaken. 

Yes, the quantity of parking provided may be closer to the parking 30 

demand when the application is first approved, however this approach 

does not provide certainty.  

 

 In my experience, identifying the number of car parking spaces, and 

therefore the area of land required, is often one of the first decisions a 35 

developer needs to make and may occur before a site is secured.  

 

 The relevant assessment matter in the transport proposal as it now 

stands refers to the minimum parking standards and the parking 

reduction factors and how the parking supply will match the anticipated 40 

demand. This has gone someway to addressing my concerns, however I 

still believe the plan would provide more certainty for development if 

minimum parking standards applied to HTG activities. 
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 As an aside, I believe that if Council wished to reduce the chance of a 

parking oversupply then a different mechanism such as the application 

of maximum parking rates should have been pursued.  

 

 Finally, turning to the assessment matters for the HTGs, I just wanted 5 

to point out the assessment matter 3 that Mr Chrystal has spoken about. 

I stand by my evidence-in-chief that I interpret this assessment matter 

to assert that access to all activities, no matter where they are located, 

should be achievable and encouraged by public and active transport. 

 10 

 I am still concerned that the assessment matter as it is written is not 

explicit, that the location and type of activity must be a key 

consideration, and therefore I prefer the submitters’ version of this 

assessment matter, which Mr Chrystal has explained. 

 15 

 The other assessment matter 7, network effects, the submitters’ version 

of the HTG rule which has now been superseded sought to separate out 

the assessment of network effects to the immediate vicinity for in zone 

developments and a wider cumulative assessment for outer zone 

developments.  20 

 

 Although the most recent wording includes consideration of whether 

the activity is permitted by the zone in which it is located, I believe it 

still does not go far enough in identifying the extent of assessment that 

is necessary. In particular, it does not identify the appropriate 25 

geographical extent of assessment and reliance and pre-application 

meetings to identify this matter will be necessary. 

 

 I am therefore more comfortable with the assessment matters as drafted 

in the submitters’ version, which identified that for in zone 30 

development the assessment should only go so far as the transport 

network in the immediate vicinity of the site access points and here this 

is where I am relying on Mr Metherell’s evidence as well. For example 

to include performance of an intersection next to the access point and 

where the transport infrastructure, such as pedestrian facilities, bus 35 

stops and on street parking controls are affected or require 

modification. 

 

 On the other hand, the wider cumulative effects assessment with 

consideration of transport infrastructure changes is appropriate for out 40 

of zone developments. I accept there will still be some uncertainty with 

regard to the immediate vicinity wording, however it will explicitly 

exclude wide area transport network effects for in zone developments. 

 

 I am happy to take any questions. 45 
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SJH:  Thank you. Mr Winchester? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [12.44 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Good afternoon, Ms Head. Just dealing with car parking 5 

first of all, and about oversupply, now Mr Chrystal gave the answer 

that he couldn’t conceive of any adverse effects from an oversupply of 

car parking. As a transport expert do you have the same view? 

 

  [12.45 pm] 10 

 

MS HEAD:  I have a similar view in that oversupply is more a cost on 

developers, there might also be a cost on the transport network because 

more traffic is using that network, but I think developers don’t go out to 

oversupply parking that is never going to be used, even if they provide 15 

an oversupply of parking at the outset, it might be used – that area of 

land will be used later for further development, so it’s a land banking 

effect really. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see. In terms of the answer you’ve just given, what 20 

relevance does the concept of induced demand have in terms of driving 

potential adverse effects on the transport network, is that relevant? 

 

MS HEAD:   Sorry? 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Induced demand, the concept, is that a relevant effect of 

oversupply of parking? 

 

MS HEAD:   It could be a small effect. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Right, and if there was an oversupply of car parking 

repeated on several occasions in a location, could that effect be more 

than a small effect? 

 

MS HEAD:   I guess so, yes. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. Now, you’re giving evidence for Lyttelton 

Port Company and the International Airport, you’d accept that from a 

transport perspective the circumstances and considerations that are part 

of those activities are relatively unique, aren’t they? 40 

 

MS HEAD:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  You can’t readily translate the circumstances which 

apply to those activities to other high traffic generating activities, can 45 

you? 
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MS HEAD:   They would have some similarities. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, but there are quite distinct circumstances for both 

LPC and the airport in terms of the way that they function that simply 5 

aren’t relevant to other activities? 

 

MS HEAD:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. Now, you’ve talked about the interpretation of the 10 

assessment matters in your evidence, I think paragraphs 26-27 in 

particular, you understand that these are assessment matters and not 

standards, don’t you? 

 

MS HEAD:   Yes.  15 

 

MR WINCHESTER: So therefore, they are going to be applied on the 

individual facts and circumstances of an individual activity, aren’t 

they? 

 20 

MS HEAD:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So you expressed a concern about assessment matter 3, 

and the inference that it’s going to involve some form of requirement 

for public access to be provided in circumstances where that’s 25 

inappropriate, that’s your problem with it? 

 

MS HEAD:   Correct.  

 

MR WINCHESTER: You are not suggesting that, for example, in the 30 

circumstances of Christchurch International Airport that assessment 

matter is going to drive the Council to require public access to the 

runway or those sorts of things, are you? 

 

MS HEAD:   No, of course not. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So what we’re trying to deal with here is a reasonable 

approach to assessment matters, and you would have to accept, 

wouldn’t you, that when the Council is applying this to the individual 

facts and circumstances of a high traffic generating activity it’s not 40 

going to do something that is fundamentally unreasonable or unsafe, or 

even unlawful, is it? 

 

MS HEAD:   No. 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER: Thank you. You also express concerns about 

requirements or undue requirements for public transport being imposed 

as a consequence of that assessment matter? Consent for an activity, a 

major activity at the port isn’t going to be declined because there’s no 

public transport interchange or anything like that, is it? 5 

 

MS HEAD:   No. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  It is definitely going to be a “horses for courses” 

approach, and that’s enabled under these assessment matters, isn’t it? 10 

 

MS HEAD:   Well, not really. I just think the planner at the Council might look 

at an assessment matter at face value and say this assessment matter 

says you need to provide public and active transport for this 

development when it might not be appropriate for the reasons you’ve 15 

outlined. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   In terms of the evidence given by planners that you 

have heard this morning, apparently what that will do is drive a 

discussion with Council officers and the applicant and that will only be 20 

able to be resolved in a sensible manner? 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 

MS HEAD:   Yes, and I don’t doubt that, I just think that that discussion 25 

wouldn’t need to be had if the assessment matter was clearer.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now, in terms of Key Activity Centres you 

have talked about the impact of the high trip generator rule on those.  

You would accept that it is difficult to anticipate the likely range of 30 

effects that are going to be relevant for an individual Key Activity 

Centre from a transport perspective? 

 

MS HEAD:   Yes. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:  And if you use the assumption that an ITA will be a 

controlled activity how do you then address the issue of cumulative 

effects over time? 

 

MS HEAD:   Well, I don’t want to go too far into the controlled activity status 40 

because I think it is a planning matter but just bringing it back to where 

the controlled activity status is or where there is support for the 

submitters’ version for controlled activity status.  It is only for the basic 

ITAs so they would not have to undergo a network assessment anyway. 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER: So in that respect you differ from the opinion of 

Mr Clark for the Crown this morning who considered that it is 

important to consider cumulative effects irrespective of the activity 

status? 

 5 

MS HEAD:   Well, I believe it has been agreed that basic ITAs will not need an 

assessment of network effects and that is how the joint memorandum 

version currently stands. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right.  Thank you, Ms Head.  Thank you, sir. 10 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Just a bit of clarification if I may, Ms Head.  Induced demand, I 

take that to mean because there might be a lot of spare parking that 15 

people will go there because they know that there is a pretty good 

chance they are going to get a park? 

 

MS HEAD:   Exactly. 

 20 

MS HURIA:   So does that become, in your view, a bit of a circular argument 

that if there is an oversupply and people go there because there is 

always, you know, quite a bit of parking that that negates or offsets the 

oversupply question? 

 25 

MS HEAD:   It could do. 

 

MS HURIA:   It could do, yes.  Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Just one question please.  In an ideal world you wouldn’t 

have an oversupply or an undersupply, you would get the number right.  

As a transportation specialist and you were doing your calculations, 

and you have said that the number was x but there is some uncertainty 35 

around it, do you err on the side of undersupply or on the side of 

oversupply, what would be traditional practice? 

 

MS HEAD:   I don’t think there is a traditional practice and I think a lot of it 

will come down to the actual site and what is actually physically 40 

available.  So it wouldn’t be a cut and dried argument either way.   

 

DR MITCHELL:  So you don’t have a preference as to which way the 

pendulum should swing in the event of uncertainty, for example? 

 45 
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MS HEAD:   It is awkward because they both have their disbenefits I guess.  In 

terms of if you are looking to reduce the effects on communities then 

an oversupply or a slight oversupply is I guess better and it does give 

some flexibility in the future to use that land for further infill if need 

be. 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:  What about the flipside, what is the negative of 

undersupply? 

 

MS HEAD:  Obviously overspill onto neighbouring streets and that will 10 

require a response from Council to manage that. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 15 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions. 

 

SJH:  Ms Head, going back to Mr Winchester’s questions around the 

assessment matters and he suggested that these would be resolved by 20 

discussion with planning officers, you are simply seeking greater 

certainty to reduce the level of discussion that is necessary? 

 

MS HEAD:   Exactly. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Winchester, anything arising? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Appleyard, anything arising or re-examination? 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Head, you had no reason to be nervous.  Now, who is 

calling Mr Metherell? 35 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.55 pm] 

 

MR LECKIE:  Yes, that is me, sir.  I will now call Mr Andrew Alan Metherell.  

Mr Metherell’s evidence is on behalf of Progressive, Bunning and the 40 

Kiwi entities. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

45 
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<ANDREW ALAN METHERELL, affirmed [12.55 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LECKIE [12.55 pm] 

 

MR LECKIE:  Can you please confirm to the Panel that your full name is 

Andrew Alan Metherell? 

 5 

MR METHERELL:   Yes. 

 

MR LECKIE:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence for this chapter 

dated 10 June? 

 10 

MR METHERELL:   Yes. 

 

MR LECKIE: And your qualifications and experience are set out in 

paragraphs 1 to 5 of that statement? 

 15 

MR METHERELL:   Yes. 

 

MR LECKIE:   And you can confirm that your statement is true and correct to 

the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 20 

MR METHERELL:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MR LECKIE:   Could you please present your highlights package and answer 

any questions? 

 25 

MR METHERELL:  The scope of my brief of evidence on the transport 

chapter concentrates on the policy and assessment matter provisions 

associated with high trip generators.  I specifically focus on the scope 

of assessment of transport network effects for activities that are listed 

as permitted in the zones activity status table.  This remains a matter of 30 

disagreement with Council. 

 

 In order to reduce repetition I briefly addressed other parking and high 

trip generator provisions which are covered in more detail by other 

transportation engineers for various submitters. 35 

 

 I agreed with Mr Fuller’s evidence on retaining minimum parking 

requirements for high trip generators which is also an outstanding 

matter of disagreement with Council. 

 40 

 I agreed with Ms Muirson on high trip generator thresholds which were 

agreed through expert conferencing and with Ms Ann-Marie Head with 

respect to recognising the importance of transport hubs.   
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 My evidence on policy 2 for high trip generators concentrated on how I 

considered it desirable to recognise the different transport environment 

around Key Activity Centres.   

 

 I am aware that an agreed position was reached on this during further 5 

planning mediation and I now rely on Mr Chrystal’s advice with regard 

to the agreed changes to policy 2.  I understand the changes will allow 

transport network effects from high trip generators to be balanced 

against the intended concentration of development around Key Activity 

Centres. 10 

 

 I support the use of a high trip generator rule being used to assess 

transport network effects of high trip generating development.  This 

will allow assessment of the extent to which development is integrated 

with the transport network.  Separate ITA guidelines are available to 15 

assist with the reporting framework and I agree with updated versions 

of the rule where detailed ITA chapter headings are not included as a 

specific provision in the proposed plan. 

 

 Assessments under the high trip generator rule can then tailored to 20 

relevant matters for the site which are primarily focused on managing 

transport network effects.  From a transportation engineering 

perspective I support further modifications to the high trip generator 

rule which are included in the submitter version of the rule appended to 

Mr Mills mediation statement of 9 June 2015. 25 

 

 That version provides for car parking numbers for high trip generators 

to be subject to the minimum car parking rule and it also splits 

assessment of transport network effects into the immediate vicinity of 

the site and the wider area beyond the immediate vicinity of the site.  In 30 

the submitter version the assessment of wider area effects is only 

triggered if the activity is not permitted in the zone.   

 

 The transport network effects assessment matter will guide a significant 

aspect of the ITA process.  I do support the ability to assess transport 35 

network effects in the vicinity of the access for all developments that 

require a full ITA.  Assessing the performance of the transport network 

in the immediate vicinity of the site allows consideration of changes to 

site layout that can optimise integration with the transport network and 

thereby manages effects. 40 

 

 It can also identify practical local transport network mitigation 

measures and address effects clearly attributable to a particular 

development.   

 45 
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 It is my experience that assessing wide area effects of an individual 

development can add significant complexity and uncertainty to a 

transportation assessment process.  I consider the broad assessment 

matter proposed by Council is likely to lead to dispute around the need 

for and evaluation of effects in wider area assessments when a 5 

development is for an activity permitted by the zone. 

 

  [1.00 pm] 

 

 There could also be a duplication of assessment with Council and other 10 

development assessments. I consider that the potential effects of the 

zone provisions on the wider network for an activity permitted by the 

zone need to be proactively considered and managed by the road 

controlling authority rather than an individual resource consent 

applicant. In my experience of the operative high trip generator rule, 15 

mitigation measures on the transport network associated with 

development of sites requiring resource consent have almost always 

been related to the immediate access and frontage to the road network. 

 

 The identification of mitigation measures on the wider network 20 

attributable to a single development as part of a resource consent 

process would be very unusual.  Therefore it is my opinion that there is 

little risk to the transport network if the assessment matters are clarified 

providing for wide area effects of development permitted by the zone 

to be specifically identified as not requiring assessment as part of the 25 

high trip generator rule.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms McIndoe. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS McINDOE [1.01 pm] 30 

 

MS McINDOE:  Thank you, sir. Mr Metherell, I want to ask you about the 

assessment matters which would apply to high trip generators, do you 

have those in front of you? 

 35 

MR METHERELL:   Ones that were in the separate version or? 

 

MS McINDOE: I’ve got the ones that were appended to the 26 June 

memorandum. 

 40 

SJH:   The ones on the screen now? 

 

MS McINDOE:   Yes, that’s correct. 

 

SJH:   You’ll find it on the screen in front of you. 45 
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MR METHERELL:   Oh, yes.   

 

MS McINDOE:   Now just to make sure we understand correctly how we get 

to these assessment matters, it’s correct isn’t it that network effects 

would only be a relevant assessment matter for activities requiring a 5 

full ITA.  That’s correct isn’t it? 

 

MR METHERELL: Network effects beyond the site access, so there is still 

reference to network effects at the site access in assessment matter 

number 1.  10 

 

MS McINDOE: But in terms of network effects, the matter listed in assessment 

matter 7, that’s only relevant for activities which require a full ITA 

isn’t it? 

 15 

MR METHERLL:   That’s correct. 

 

MS McINDOE: And the network effects assessment criteria matter in 

assessment matter 7, that’s framed in a way which suggests a wider 

assessment than the words “transport network” in assessment matter 1, 20 

isn’t it? 

 

MR METHERELL:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS McINDOE:  Do you accept that they are contemplating a different breadth 25 

of network if you like? 

 

MR METHERELL:  Yes, the first one’s obviously around access and number 7 

doesn’t define as an extent basically, so it’s a wider network. 

 30 

MS McINDOE:   And do you accept that the wider network would be relevant 

to look at for these activities requiring a full ITA? 

 

MR METHERELL: Only for the activities that are not anticipated by the 

zoning. 35 

 

MS McINDOE:  Now in Christchurch where there’s a lot of rebuilding going 

on and there’s a need to look to what’s it going to be like in the future, 

if you like, do you not consider that it would be useful to look at those 

future planned activities for large high traffic generating activities, even 40 

if they are permitted in the zone? 

 

MR METHERELL: I think it’s useful to look at that but I think the 

responsibility should be with the Council having zoned the land and 

being able to understand that wider network and manage the mitigation 45 
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measures that could be provided to optimise that network into the 

future. 

 

MS McINDOE:  Right so just making sure I understand that clearly, you’re 

saying it’s useful to assess, but the Council should do that assessment? 5 

 

MR METHERLL:   That’s right.  I don’t believe it should be part of this rule 

framework. 

 

MS McINDOE: So if for example there was some construction about to happen 10 

on a road as part of infrastructure repairs, that’s something the Council 

could look at the time they assessed the application. I’m thinking in 

terms of a road repairs might impact upon an accessway to a 

development and that’s something that they could look at in terms of 

the timing of that. 15 

 

MR METHERELL:  Yes, but I would only say that that would be relevant if 

that works was in the immediate vicinity of the site. 

 

  [1.05 pm] 20 

 

MS McINDOE:   And if the Council when it was undertaking its assessment of 

these wider network effects considered that a condition needed to be 

imposed perhaps controlling the timing of a development or another 

matter relating to the traffic concerns, do you think the Council should 25 

be able to impose such a condition? 

 

MR METHERELL: Only if that is a matter that is directly related to the 

frontage of the site and so it’s affecting how access would be provided 

to the site. 30 

 

MS McINDOE:  You don’t consider that the impacts on high trip generators 

requiring full ITA, those traffic effects are relevant anywhere else in 

the city? 

 35 

MR METHERELL:   Sorry can you just re-state - - - 

 

MS McINDOE:   Sorry, repeat the question. 

 

MR METHERELL:   - - - the effects? 40 

 

MS McINDOE:   So we’ve got a high trip generating activity which requires a 

full ITA. 

 

MR METHERLL:   Yes. 45 
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MS McINDOE:   And these are the high trip generating activities which have 

substantial traffic generation, don’t they? 

 

MR METHERELL:   Yes. 

 5 

MS McINDOE:  And that traffic could have an impact in a relatively large area 

across the city. 

 

MR METHERELL:  Well in my experience when I’ve been assessing these 

large developments, usually those impacts can be clearly identified in 10 

the local area but not in a wide area.  That might add to possibly in the 

wider area but to identify those effects becomes very, very difficult. 

 

MS McINDOE:   And so you say don’t even try? 

 15 

MR METHERELL: I’m saying, yes effectively, rely on the zoning and Council 

take responsibility for that zoning in proactive manner. 

 

MS McINDOE:  When you say Council take responsibility for that zoning do 

you mean that Council should assess the effects themselves of this 20 

activity? 

 

MR METHERELL: Council regularly models the transport network, the 

outcomes they’re expecting over time and I think that they plan 

projects to respond to that future transport demand, so yes I think that 25 

they can take responsibility for network changes that might need to 

happen in a wider area beyond that sort of immediate vicinity of the 

site. 

 

MS McINDOE:  But if an activity is not anticipated or permitted in a zone, 30 

then you would support a wider network analysis? 

 

MR METHERELL:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  I’ve got two matters I want to raise with 

you thanks, Mr Metherell, the first one is following on from the 

questions that you’ve just been asked, what’s the extent to which a 

proponent of a development is responsible for internalising the costs 40 

and effects of its proposed activities on the transport network? 

 

MR METHERELL: Well in my experience it’s been focused on achieving 

good efficient access to the site and in some cases that might mean that 

they access a side road which needs to access another road and they 45 

might upgrade an intersection which isn’t direct access.  I mean those 
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mitigation works can be quite significant in cost and time in planning, 

and so usually a developer will sometimes see the benefit for their own 

site and provide, you know be willing to accept that kind of condition.  

There’s always a discussion and debate around any works that are off 

the site but as I mentioned in my highlights package, these matters in 5 

the immediate site frontage are usually clearly identifiable that they are 

of benefit to the site and dealing with an effect from that site. 

 

DR MITCHELL: What about the scenario say in the north west of 

Christchurch where, as I understand, all the technical evidence around 10 

that is that the northern arterial is pretty much fundamental to making 

that work.  Based on the approach that you’ve outlined and the reliance 

on zoning, absent a formal commitment to the implementation of that 

arterial road, it wouldn’t be appropriate design extensive development 

in that area, would it? 15 

 

  [1.10 pm] 

 

MR METHERELL:  Certainly the Council’s transport planning would need to 

be revisited, there were scenarios put forward I understand as part of 20 

the designation process that compared with and without northern 

arterial scenario, and it still contemplated future growth in that 

minimum scenario and obviously it had a very different transport 

network effect, so if that northern arterial did not go ahead then you 

would perhaps have to look at alternative transport provisions.  25 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But it would be also relevant to look at the applicability of 

the zoning if that were – I mean your basic argument is, as I understand 

it, is to say, well, we take zoning as a give in and it’s the Council’s job 

to make sure the core infrastructure is in place, or where the core 30 

infrastructure isn’t in place, and there’s no guarantee that it will be, it 

would be inappropriate in those circumstances to zone for that activity, 

wouldn’t it? 

 

MR METHERELL:   Not sure necessarily – if there was a clear commitment 35 

from the Council that they will not do that project, then I think you’d 

have to revisit that zoning.  

 

DR MITCHELL:  All right, thank you. Just on another topic entirely, you will 

be aware in the regional policy statement about the relatively strong 40 

direction about reducing reliance on private vehicles and that we’re 

obliged to give effect to that in this plan. The Council’s response to that 

in large part has been about the promotion of things like cycle parks, 

commercial facilities, provision of showers for cyclists, those sorts of 

things, integrating walkways with access to centres and those sorts of 45 

things.  
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 Other than the promotion of those other means of transport, does that 

go far enough ensuring that that policy direction of reducing reliance 

on private vehicles will be realised or do you actually need to go 

beyond that and use the stick part of the regulatory toolbox to minimise 5 

the use of private vehicles? 

 

MR METHERELL:   Certainly, my understanding is that if you provide the 

infrastructure then that will certainly assist in changing people’s 

behaviour. In terms of whether you need to use a stick as well, at some 10 

point if you’ve provided that infrastructure and you haven’t got that 

change, then yes that might be an appropriate response.  

 

DR MITCHELL:   How would that work in practice, if you’ve put the cycle 

parks in and the walkways and so on and so forth, and you’ve got a 500 15 

vehicle car park, you can’t really take those car parks away subsequent 

to them being there, can you, if that’s the only way of changing that 

behaviour? 

 

MR METHERELL:  No, you can’t, but you may change your regulatory 20 

framework in the future and if that site wants to intensify their 

development then the option would probably be to remove some of that 

parking to provide for the development. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   In the context of a new development proposal though, not in 25 

the context of something that wasn’t working from an integrated 

transport perspective. 

 

MR METHERELL:  Yes, I don’t think you would expect to revisit a site and 

ask them to remove parking. 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you. Thank you, Mr Metherell. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH: One question, Mr Metherell, am I correct in saying 

that the main reason why you don’t support the wider network 35 

assessment is because of the complexity of it and that that complexity 

might require you to consider other developments in conjunction with it 

and create a whole lot of uncertainty that could frustrate the 

applications? 

 40 

  [1.15 pm] 

 

MR METHERELL: Certainly that’s a large component and it will add 

complexity. As I mentioned also in my evidence, it’s been my 

experience that for individual resource consent developments there 45 

typically hasn’t been mitigation measures identifiable or placed 
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responsibility onto individual developers. So I am concerned that we 

would go through this complex process and not necessarily come out 

with an outcome that would necessarily contribute much to 

optimisation of the integrated transport network. 

 5 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Your professional and philosophical view is that the Council should 

basically get traffic effects on the network right when they zone. 

 10 

MR METHERELL:   As far as practicable. 

 

SJH:   That’s what you’ve told us. 

 

MR METHERELL:  There’s also the ongoing ability to respond to the changes 15 

in pattern, so the existing zones – or, sorry, the proposed zones have 

already identified a general development pattern in most of 

Christchurch, so they’re generally aware of where the hot spot issues 

are. 

 20 

SJH:   I understood your evidence to be that once zoned an applicant for a 

development should not have to demonstrate the area wide impact of 

that development as long as it’s a properly zoned activity. 

 

MR METHERELL:   Yes, that’s correct. 25 

 

SJH:   That’s what you said? 

 

MR METHERELL:   Yes. 

 30 

SJH:   But the discussion that took place in the potential from the northern 

arterial that we’re now hearing about shows that circumstances can 

dramatically change, can’t they? 

 

MR METHERELL:   They can. 35 

 

SJH:   Potentially. 

 

MR METHERELL: That potentially, and particularly with the northern 

arterial, I think it’s still a potential. 40 

 

SJH:   But your approach would have to be described as fairly rigid and 

inflexible, wouldn’t it? 
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MR METHERELL:  I am still suggesting that network effects in the vicinity of 

the site are assessed and mitigation measures that come out of that are 

addressed. 

 

SJH:   How long do you see the plan lasting for? 5 

 

MR METHERELL:   Probably at least 10 years. 

 

SJH:   And a lot can happen in that time? 

 10 

MR METHERELL:   Certainly in the last few years we’ve identified that as 

being what happens. 

 

SJH:   Exactly. But even without natural disasters a lot can happen in 10 years. 

 15 

MR METHERELL:   Yes, a lot can happen. 

 

SJH:   And wider area transport effects can change? 

 

MR METHERELL:   Yes, they can. 20 

 

SJH:   But they wouldn’t be considered under your scenario? 

 

MR METHERELL:   If the wider area network changed then it would probably 

be the result of other development occurring, so the network effects of 25 

that particular development would just be part of the wider change in 

the transport system. 

 

SJH:   Mr Winchester, anything arising? 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Leckie, anything arising or re-examination? 

 

MR LECKIE:   No, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Metherell, you may stand down. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Ms McIndoe? 

 40 

SJH:   I am sorry, Ms McIndoe? 

 

MS McINDOE:   Nothing arising, sir. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.18 pm] 45 
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SJH:  Sorry, my apologies. We will take the luncheon adjournment for 

30 minutes. I was overcome by rigidity. 

 

ADJOURNED [1.18 pm] 

 5 

RESUMED [1.52 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Now, Ms Marks.  I am sorry, Ms Limmer, isn’t it, I 

have jumped further down the page. 

 10 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, I understood you had got to me already.  I understand 

the Panel has copies of my written submissions.  These submissions are 

on behalf Canterbury Aggregate Producers Group and throughout the 

rest of this hearing I will refer to them as CAPG, it is a bit less of a 

mouthful.   15 

 

 Its principal request in respect of chapter 7 was to recognise the nature 

and location of mineral extraction activities, they are now defined as 

quarrying activities in stage 2 of the replacement plan, and their role in 

the Christchurch rebuild and recovery.  In an effort to address and 20 

responds to concerns raised by Council CAPG has attempted to find 

other lesser relief within the framework of proposal 7 as it has evolved 

over the course of these hearings and leading up to them. 

 

 And just in that regard, at the beginning the Council characterised the 25 

relief being sought as an exemption for quarrying activities.  In fact the 

exemption sought by CAPG is in respect of existing quarries within the 

Rural Quarry zone.  So there are eight quarries within the Quarry zone 

and there are another six outside of it and Mr Warren addresses that in 

his evidence.  The ones outside it operate under resource consents, the 30 

ones inside it, all bar one of them, rely on existing use rights. 

 

  [1.55 pm] 

 

 Unlike other submitters CAPG and the Council have made little 35 

progress toward resolving their differences.  These submissions outline 

the substantial differences that remain between the two parties which 

relate to acceptance of existing vehicle movements from quarries 

within the Quarry zone; activity status for high trip generators in the 

Quarry zone; consideration of amenity effects on an application 40 

triggered by the rule and policy expectations for quarrying activities 

outside of the Quarry zone.   

 

 To provide you with a bit of context, aggregate is a finite resource and 

you have heard evidence on that in the course of chapter 3.  The 45 

replacement plan like the operative plan does not provide for quarrying 
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as a permitted activity anywhere other than in the Quarry zone.  The 

proposed Quarry zone is essentially the same as the existing one and 

the Open Space 3D zone and it serves to accommodate almost 

exclusively established quarries.  So there is only one site that is 

undeveloped in the Quarry zone. 5 

 

SJH:   I am sorry to cut short, Ms Limmer, but the practice we have adopted is 

you speak to your opening submissions and you give much fuller 

closing submissions after we have heard all the evidence, so just speak 

to the document. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   Certainly, sir.  Turning to then, just in the way of context, it is 

important to the relief that continues to be pursued is that while there 

are permitted activities in the Quarry zone and those activities are by 

and large already there, beyond the Quarry zone there is no permitted 15 

status for quarrying, they will require resource consent.  But in the 

stage 2 replacement plan they are anticipated to occur in the Rural zone 

and that is the difference, while they are not permitted they are 

anticipated. 

 20 

 The CAPG in terms of existing vehicle movements, because the uses 

within the Quarry zone are established they have been there, and 

Mr Warren provides evidence on this, for a long time now, some dating 

back to the 1950s and 60s.  The exemption that has been proposed for 

activities that access urban roads is sought to be extended to the 25 

quarries within the Quarry zone as well.  So those operators aren’t 

forced to go to the trouble, the expense, the difficulty of establishing 

existing use rights for their vehicle movements and indeed the level of 

vehicle movements that are covered by existing use rights and, as 

Mr Falconer discusses in his evidence, having to rely on the fall-back 30 

that would be seeking a resource consent because of the problems 

associated with establishing existing uses. 

 

 The third point of difference is the activity status for activities in the 

Quarry zone, so this is just within the zone and not the ones that are 35 

establishing in the Rural zone generally and controlled status is sought 

there, again on the basis that that zone is largely already developed 

anyway.  And the amenity considerations for that zone have been long 

acknowledged in the operative plan and also in the replacement plan 

continuing that zoning. 40 

 

 The CAPG is concerned that restricted discretionary status, whilst the 

evidence from the Council is that it is not there to decline consents, the 

CAPG is concerned that the potential for a decline of consent is still 

there and, on that basis, an activity that goes in the zone and in fact the 45 

only zone that provides for it could in fact be turned down. 
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 For quarrying activities outside of the Quarry zone the situation is 

different because they will need consent anyway and the status of that 

consent is proposed to be fully discretionary.  All effects will need to 

be considered through that process including on the transport network 5 

and amenity effects. 

 

 The CAPG is primarily concerned with, and this will come through in 

its submissions on proposal 17 as well, with avoiding unnecessary 

duplication or confusion between chapter 7 and chapter 17 in respect of 10 

quarries outside of the zone and how the transport effects are assessed. 

 

  [2.00 pm] 

 

 This brings into relevance the policy and the expectations about either 15 

avoiding or mitigating the effects for permitted activities or non-

permitted activities and the difficulty with quarries is that they are only 

permitted in a very small part of the rural zone, that being the quarry 

zone.  Outside of that there are no permitted activities so they benefit at 

all from the policy around mitigation rather than avoidance, despite the 20 

fact they are clearly anticipated activities in that zone. 

 

 So for the CAPG and perhaps unlike any of the other submitters, the 

change from anticipated to permitted, which has occurred recently, is in 

fact a material one. 25 

 

 And the last point of difference is the relevance of amenity effects on 

the consideration of any implication that is triggered by the HTG rule.  

The submission on that for CAPG is that the level of amenity within 

and around the quarries then reflects the existing high level of 30 

development that is already in that zone, and the amenity values on the 

amenity of surrounding areas reflects that already and those are 

anticipated environmental outcomes and have been since even before 

the Operative Plan put that zone in place because the activities have 

been there for so long. 35 

 

 The evidence discloses a disagreement or uncertainty between the 

planning witnesses on just what amenity effects are relevant.  

Ms McLeod for the Crown expresses one view, that that matter is quite 

narrow, whereas Mr Falconer and Mr Roberts say it will allow the 40 

assessment of dust and noise effects from vehicle movements 

associated with quarries. In CAPG’s submission, those effects are 

absolutely integral to a quarry itself.  They are the activity. 

 

 So, sir, that provides an outline of CAPG’s position. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  I do have just two questions for clarification just in terms of 

your footnotes in fact Ms Limmer.  On page 4 in paragraph A at the top 

you say almost all of the proposed in this rural quarry zone includes 5 

existing unconsented activities and the footnote says that that’s Mr 

Ensor’s evidence at paragraph 17.   

 

 Is that the correct footnote, because he says that it’s unique in that it 

almost exclusively provides for existing quarrying activities, and 10 

consequently it accommodates established activities and associated set 

of effects which seems to be different from what you’re saying in your 

paragraph A. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes sir, I think part of it comes from Mr Ensor and the other 15 

part should probably be a reference to Mr Warren’s evidence as well.  I 

would need to find that paragraph but I can come back to you. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Well no, it’s fine, and the second a similar topic, in B below 

it, it refers to Mr Warren’s evidence at para 29 and it says “Some for 20 

more than 50 years”. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   That paragraph in his evidence says “more than 15” and I’m 25 

just trying to understand if there’s something else or another part of the 

reference that refers to 50 years as opposed to more than 15. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Sorry that is the incorrect paragraph reference and he does 

have a paragraph relating to the Isaac and Fulton Hogan quarries that 30 

were established in 1860. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right that’s fine then, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, sir. 35 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes one clarification please on footnote 10, I am 

unsure exactly what it means because it says here that you’ve got the 

definition of urban roads, and you’ve said here, “however it is difficult 

to determine precisely how many existing quarries within Christchurch 40 

district adjoin urban roads and consequently will be excluded from 

Mr Falconer’s proposal with exemption”, and then it says “all quarries 

are currently located outside the urban limits”.  So why is it difficult to 

determine whether they access urban roads or not if they’re outside the 

limit? 45 
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MS LIMMER:  Yes, sir, because some of those roads extend or straddle if you 

like within the urban limits and outside the urban limits and that was in 

fact, and these were prepared yesterday, that was the point of my 

question to Mr Falconer, to just clarify which if any of the quarries are 

within that exemption or not.  My footnote there is referencing advice 5 

that CAPG has received through its planner in terms of how that 

exemption would affect it, and the advice was that it’s not entirely 

clear. 

 

  [2.05 pm] 10 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So is it still not entirely clear? 

 

MS LIMMER:  That is, and you can ask Mr Ensor his view on that, that is his 

opinion, although Mr Falconer has given evidence that it definitely 15 

does not include the quarries. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MS LIMMER: Thank you, sir. If I can call the CAPG’s first witness, 20 

Mr Warren. 
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<BRIAN STUART WARREN, affirmed [2.05 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [2.06 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, can you confirm your full name is Brian Stuart 

Warren? 

 5 

MR WARREN:   Yes, that’s right. 

 

MS LIMMER:  You are the CEO of Isaac Construction Company and the 

Chair of the Canterbury Aggregate Producers Group? 

 10 

MR WARREN:   Correct. 

 

MS LIMMER:   You have prepared a brief of evidence in respect of this matter 

dated 10 June 2015. 

 15 

MR WARREN:   Yes, I have. 

 

MS LIMMER: Do you have any corrections you wish to make to that 

evidence? 

 20 

MR WARREN:  Two points of clarification if I may.  In paragraph 25 on 

page 5 of my evidence I say there is “Presently nine land-based alluvial 

quarries in the Quarry zone as proposed”.  This is in fact eight because 

while the Isaac site has been added to the Quarry zone, I understand the 

Blackstone site has been removed because no longer any quarrying is 25 

undertaken there. 

 

 And at paragraph 29 on page 6 of my evidence I say “Many of the 

existing quarries were established more than 15 years ago.”  I should 

clarify that “To the best of my knowledge all of the quarries in the 30 

Quarry zone have been there for considerably longer than 15 years 

except only for one, the Christchurch Readymix site.”   

 

MS LIMMER: Thank you, Mr Warren, and with those corrections or 

clarifications is your evidence true and correct to the best of your 35 

knowledge? 

 

MR WARREN:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS LIMMER:   I understand you have prepared a summary statement of your 40 

evidence to present to the Panel. 

 

MR WARREN:   Yes, I have. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Could you please present that summary and then remain to 45 

answer any questions. 
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MR WARREN:  Thank you. In the Christchurch district, aggregate production 

has traditionally been located close to demand.  In summary, there are 

presently eight land-based alluvial quarries producing aggregates 

located to the west of the Christchurch urban area within the current 5 

rural quarry and open space 3D zones. I understand Council has 

proposed to amalgamate those two zones into the new Rural Quarry 

zone. 

 

 Extensions to the road metals in Winston aggregate sides at Yaldhurst 10 

have occurred onto sites beyond the current and proposed new Rural 

Quarry zone while a further six standalone consented sites have been 

established outside these zones. Two of these, the Waterloo Park and 

Fulton Hogan Roberts Road ones, have only recently been consented. 

 15 

 I am aware there are also four further quarry sites currently before the 

Council for consenting. Many of the existing quarries and all except 

one within the quarry zone were established more than 15 years ago, 

prior to the introduction of the existing District Plan.  Some have been 

operating for a much longer period. For example the Isaac quarry, 20 

located in the current Open Space 3D zone and the Fulton Hogan 

quarry in Pound Road, located in the Rural Quarry zone, were both 

established in the late 50s/early 60s.   

 

 Reconstruction activity following the Christchurch earthquakes has 25 

created increased demand for aggregates.  Increased demand is forecast 

to continue at least in the short to medium term, not only as a result of 

the Christchurch rebuild but also due to underlying urban growth and 

economic activity.   

 30 

 The aggregates industry and existing quarry operations in the 

Christchurch district will play an essential role in meeting those 

demands. Transport and truck movements are a part and parcel of 

quarry activities. Where there are quarries there are frequent and 

numerous heavy vehicle movements.   35 

 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

 The CAPG understands all new quarries will need consent, for that 

reason it is mainly concerned with how the proposed rules will affect 40 

existing quarries within the Quarry Zone.  Because these quarries have 

been operating for a very long time the Group is worried they will have 

difficulties establishing what level of use, existing use rights exist and 

will therefore need to apply for a resource consent that as I understand 

it could be declined. 45 

 



 Page 187 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.06.15 

 CAPG is concerned that any consent required might include assessment 

of the amenity effects of traffic movements to and from quarries and 

lead to decline of consent on that basis.  The effects of heavy vehicle 

movements are inevitable with quarries.  It is my experience it is often 

the most contentious element of any quarrying proposal.   5 

 

 The CAPG members believe the amenity effects of quarrying activities 

were known and accepted in the quarry zone.  CAPG is concerned that 

looking at this matter within the quarry zone effectively questions 

whether or not those activities should be there at all. 10 

 

 Thank you. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Just one query at a practical level in terms of an existing 

quarry.  Can you envisage a scenario where an existing quarry might in 15 

effect become a new quarry because of either moving into a slightly 

different area of operation or more likely extending or expanding the 

scale of operations to a considerable extent? 

 

MR WARREN:   That scenario has just recently occurred, the Winstone one 20 

that I referred to as a new consent is in fact moving into a neighbouring 

property or a neighbouring area. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   What about just changes of scale?  I can envisage, I do not 

know this but pre-earthquake there is a quarry of a certain size going 25 

about its business and all of a sudden because of the demand for 

aggregate which I do not think is disputed by anybody, the scale of that 

operation is expanded quite considerably.  Do you envisage that that 

activity would be exempt from any further scrutiny? 

 30 

MR WARREN:   This is where we have the difficulty with what is existing use 

rights, all we know at the moment is what we have been doing in the 

past, in the recent past and there is a little bit of misinformation about 

the scale of the impact of the earthquakes, it is significant, yes.  In 

global context in 2007 we were a 5,500,000 tonne industry, greater 35 

Christchurch, last year we were 7,200,000 tonnes.  So that pre-

earthquakes it had dropped back to a bit under 4,000,000 tonnes in the 

GFC when there was very little development so that the absolute scale 

from 2009 to 2012 is a significant lift, but if you go back historically 

we have been not that far away from similar volumes. 40 

 

 Predictions going forward have seen us peak where we are now in fact 

declining slightly going forward but staying above where we were pre-

earthquakes.  So scale of operation is a little more difficult to define 

and it varies from one site to another. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, thank you, sir. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   One question, Mr Warren, any quarry that is not 

currently under resource consent has an existing use right so what I 

want to understand is what do you think might trigger a resource 5 

consent from a quarry that has an existing use right, is it quality of rock 

or is it because the Council come along and say you have to justify 

where you are? 

 

MR WARREN:   I think it is the second part of your question.  The potential 10 

for somebody to question the level of activity and then we get into this 

difficult situation of are we over trigger points of traffic movements, 

what was our existing use right and it is not hard to imagine going back 

many decades when some of the larger projects are underway say 

building Harewood Airport for instance and our own situation at Isaac. 15 

 

 They would have had a significant role to play in doing that.  Back then 

we had quite small trucks and I could imagine they probably were 

generating some pretty significant traffic movement going back in the 

60s and 70s and what is existing use is our big concern.  Establishing 20 

that. 

 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   It is difficult to define, have there been any requests 25 

currently for people with existing use rights to justify their existing use 

right? 

 

MR WARREN:   We have had some discussion as an industry with the 

regulatory authorities, both council and regional council, regarding 30 

existing operations where we have been endeavouring to work with the 

community and our neighbours. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So other than applying for a resource consent for 

those quarries which is obviously one path and a difficult one, the one 35 

that you are concerned about, are there any other any (INDISTINCT 

2.15 pm) do you think? 

 

MR WARREN:   Well the relief sought would be to exempt that from, that 

possibility from arising, the relief sought under the plan. 40 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   There would be some sort of level of acceptance 

around existing use that protects the position of the quarries as they 

exist today? 

 45 
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MR WARREN:   Correct, yes it is our belief that the extent and the impact of 

the quarries was known at the time that this plan is developed and 

proposed so that the impact of those quarries is a consideration or it 

was a consideration and the current level of impact or affect is known 

and accepted. 5 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, thanks. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Ms Limmer? 

 10 

MS LIMMER:   No sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Warren, you may stand down. 

 

MR WARREN:   Thank you. 15 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.17 pm] 
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<TIMOTHY ALISTAIR DEANS ENSOR, affirmed [2.17 pm] 
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MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir, I call Mr Ensor. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [2.17 pm] 5 

 

MS LIMMER:   Can you confirm your full name is Timothy Alistair Deans 

Ensor? 

 

MR ENSOR:   Yes, I can.  10 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you are a principal planner with AECOM Consulting 

Services Limited? 

 

MR ENSOR:   That is correct. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   You have prepared two briefs of evidence is this matter, one 

dated 10 June and the other 17 June 2015? 

 

MR ENSOR:   Correct. 20 

 

MS LIMMER:   Do you have the qualifications and experience set out in the 

evidence? 

 

MR ENSOR:   Yes, I do. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:  Do you have any corrections you wish to make to those briefs? 

 

MR ENSOR:   No, no corrections. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   Do you then confirm the evidence in them is true and correct 

to the best of your knowledge? 

 

MR ENSOR:   Yes, I do. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:  Have you prepared a short summary statement of your 

evidence? 

 

MR ENSOR:   Yes. 

 40 

MS LIMMER:   Could you please take the Panel through that and remain to 

answer any questions? 

 

MR ENSOR:   Thank you.  Quarrying activities as they are now referred to in 

the proposed Replacement District Plan are addressed in two distinct 45 

ways.  This distinction is based upon whether the activity is occurring 
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within the Rural Quarry Zone or outside of the Rural Quarry Zone and 

most likely in one of the other Rural Zones.    

 

 This distinction is important in the fact that the Rural Quarry Zone 

almost exclusively provides for existing quarrying activities and new 5 

quarrying activities outside the Rural Zone will under the notified rural 

proposal require resource consent as either a discretionary or non 

complying activity.  Therefore a full assessment of all affects will be 

made through any application for resource consent.   

 10 

 There are five main areas I would like to highlight either from my 

evidence or arising from mediational discussion with the Council or 

other submitters.  First in terms of the high trip generator rule, the HTG 

rule of the revised proposal excludes the level of traffic generated by an 

activity that existed prior to the replacement plan being made operative 15 

from any calculation of traffic generation for the purposes of 

determining rule compliance. 

 

 The reason for this provided by Mr Falconer in his evidence is due to 

the time and cost required to prove existing use rights and due to the 20 

potential lack of record which would force some applicants to obtain 

resource consent. 

 

 However, this exclusion does not apply to activities accessing non 

urban roads.  It is my view that this exclusion should apply to quarrying 25 

activities within the Rural Quarry Zone which are for the most part 

located on non urban roads because: 

 

 To the inclusion of a Rural Quarry Zone with the Rural chapter of the 

Replacement Plan there must be an acceptance that aggregate will be 30 

transported offsite as vehicle movements are integral to quarrying 

activities. 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 35 

 Proving existing use rights is no less difficult for quarrying activities 

requiring long-established quarries to obtain resource consent for 

vehicle movements, as proposed in the replacement plan, opens the 

activity up for an assessment of a range of matters including those 

addressed through the Rural Quarry zone provisions.  And consent 40 

could be declined through the restricted discretionary activity status 

which would undermine the permitted status of quarrying activities 

within the rural proposal. 

 

 My second point is in relation is in relation to amenity as an assessment 45 

matter.  One of the matters of discretion for high trip generating 
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activities in both the notified and the revised proposal is the effect 

quarrying activities have on amenity values. 

 

 My opinion is that it is not necessary to access amenity through a 

transport rule associated with quarries because, if an application for 5 

resource consent were to be made for a new quarry to establish outside 

the Rural Quarry zone, amenity values will be appropriately considered 

alongside all other relevant effects when making a decision on this land 

use application. 

 10 

 Through including a Rural Quarry zone within the notified replacement 

plan the zone must acknowledge a level of amenity consistent with a 

working quarry environment before amenity values are characterised 

by the land use, which necessarily includes high levels of traffic 

generation.   15 

 

 Policy 1 seeks to establish the road hierarchy while reflecting 

neighbourhood identity and amenity.  In relation to the road network 

adjacent to the Rural Quarry zone this includes quarrying and 

associated traffic generation.  Therefore my opinion is that effects on 20 

amenity values are adequately considered as part of the land use 

component of the activity both within and outside of the Rural Quarry 

zone.   

 

 In addition there are controls on noise, vibration and glare contained in 25 

chapter 6 of the replacement plan and controls on dust in chapter 3 air 

quality of the Natural Resources Regional Plan that provide an 

additional level of control over amenity effects if required.   

 

 While considering effects on amenity through both the transport 30 

proposal and land use zone rules creates unnecessary duplication.  

More importantly resource consent for a high trip generating activity in 

the Rural Quarry zone has restricted discretionary status and could 

potentially be publicly notified and/or declined based on effects on 

amenity, despite the fact that the Rural Quarry zone is put in place for 35 

quarrying activities which necessarily require higher levels of vehicle 

movement. 

 

 Mr Bowen has included a clause in the high trip generator rule to 

exclude public or limited notification for activities that are otherwise 40 

permitted in the zone where they are located, do not exceed the full 

integrated transport assessment threshold and do not require written 

approvals from the NZ Transport Agency or KiwiRail.  However, 

quarrying activities are excluded from this exemption and will be open 

to public or limited notification if a residential unit is located within 45 

250 metres of quarry access.  
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 While I understand that this is seen as a compromise my opinion is that 

this disadvantages quarries but not other high trip generators.  It would 

be triggered by three existing quarries within the Rural Quarry zone 

and does not address the fundamental issue of amenity effects being 5 

unnecessarily addressed through land use and transport provisions. 

 

 Moving to discussion on controlled activity status; the notified 

transport proposal specifies a restricted discretionary status for non-

compliance with the high trip generator thresholds.  This introduces a 10 

wide range of assessment matters and, given my conclusions regarding 

amenity effects, my view is that the key considerations for the transport 

provisions in the replacement plan should be physical effects on the 

transport network, network performance, accessibility and safety.   

 15 

 In relation to quarrying all of these components are able to be 

addressed through the requirement for an integrated transport 

assessment and conditions of consent.  Therefore my opinion is that 

non-compliance with the high trip generator rules would be better 

classified as a controlled activity.  Controlled activity status would 20 

provide certainty to a resource consent applicant of the matters to be 

addressed and the outcome of a consent application.  It would also 

implement objective 2 of the transport proposal by providing for the 

freight transportation needs of the quarry industry while managing 

adverse effects.  All effects can be managed through conditions on 25 

consent, the ability to decline consent does not need to be retained. 

 

 Policy 2 as amended through mediation seeks to manage traffic effects 

having regard to the zone in which they are located.  Specifically the 

version attached to the joint memorandum of 26 June seeks to assess 30 

the location and design with regard to the extent that they are permitted 

by the zone in which they are located.   

 

 As the memorandum records I did not agree with the substitution of 

“anticipated” with “permitted” in policy 2A.  This is on the basis that 35 

the Rural Quarry zone is the only zone in which quarries are permitted 

but not the only zone in which quarries are anticipated to occur.  They 

are anticipated to occur in the other rural zones through chapter 17 of 

the replacement plan as this is where the aggregate resource is located. 

 40 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

 On this basis the word “permitted” potentially sets a higher bar for 

quarrying activities in other rural zones even though this is the most 

appropriate location for them.  Therefore I would be more comfortable 45 

with the use of “anticipated” instead of “permitted”.  In addition a 
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modification to the footnote explaining what is meant by the term 

“anticipated” should reference activities permitted by the zone in which 

they are located and any quarrying activity within the rural zone.   

 

 Also my view is that the option to mitigate significant adverse effects 5 

should not be excluded from the revised policy 2F(ii).  My opinion is 

this may lead to perverse results where the avoidance of a significant 

adverse effect which could be successfully mitigated may lead to 

another adverse effect that cannot.   

 10 

 And, finally, just turning to parking and loading.  In my opinion issues 

with high trip generating activities such as parking need to be 

controlled differently within an urban setting as opposed to a rural 

environment due principally to the general availability of land.  The 

evidence of Mr Lloyd acknowledges that quarrying activities do have 15 

different requirements when it comes to loading facilities and on this 

basis controls have been proposed which clarify the requirements for 

quarries which I support.   

 

 The rebuttal evidence of Ms Ward agrees that minimum cycle parking 20 

requirements for quarries are not required due to the fact that there is 

really a lack of opportunities to secure a cycle onsite.  However, the 

proposal retains minimum car parking requirements for quarries albeit 

on a slightly reduced scale.  While this has made compliance easier it 

does not remove what is in my view a requirement of little value that 25 

places unnecessary reliance upon the resource consent process.  I am 

also unsure as to why the reasoning of Mr Lloyd and Ms Ward in 

relation to loading areas and cycle parks has not been applied to car 

parking. 

 30 

 Through informal mediation with the Council the CAPG is proposed as 

an alternative to minimum car parking an activity standard to require 

all car parking associated with the quarry to occur onsite.  In my view 

this provides a solution that avoids the potential safety issues of cars 

parked on the roadside and allows quarry operators to organise their 35 

parking onsite in any manner they wish.  I understand this is what 

occurs currently and is therefore supported. 

 

 So as a conclusion, in my view the transport proposal fails to consider 

the transport movements associated with quarrying in the context of the 40 

replacement plan as a whole or in the context of the expected activities 

and effects associated with the Rural Quarry zone.  This leads to a 

proposal that duplicates provisions and potentially undermines the 

objectives of other plan proposals.  Thank you. 

 45 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Winchester? 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [2.27 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Ensor.  Now, are 

you advising your client or the group or individual quarry operators on 5 

existing consenting and compliance issues with existing quarries? 

 

MR ENSOR:   No, I am just essentially looking at this plan review process 

currently. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   So you are not involved in any discussions with either 

the community or Councils about the legal rights attaching to existing 

quarry operations? 

 

MR ENSOR:   I haven’t been. 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you don’t have any awareness of that? 

 

MR ENSOR:   Not an awareness of discussions that have been – I understand 

that general discussions have occurred in the past but I haven’t been 20 

party to those. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  So you are not aware then that, as Mr Warren 

suggested, there are discussions with the community and with Councils 

but in fact the subject matter of those discussions is explicitly about 25 

compliance with existing consents and breaches of those consents, are 

you aware of that? 

 

MR ENSOR:   No, I am not aware. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   And are you aware of significant concerns expressed by 

residents in rural areas near to the existing Quarry zones about amenity 

impacts of increased quarry production in recent years? 

 

MR ENSOR:   I have read articles in the paper, for instance, about concerns of 35 

residents regarding quarrying but no more specific than that. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right.  Now, Mr Warren talked about an underlying 

concern for your position in this hearing is around the potential for 

people to question the level of activity that is taking place in an existing 40 

quarry zone, an  existing quarry site, did you hear that? 

 

MR ENSOR:   As far as questioning existing use rights or establishing existing 

use rights. 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and trying to get an appropriate framework in 

place so that those questions don’t arise, is that your understanding? 

 

MR ENSOR:   Yes, and that is the understanding of the proposal put forward 

by the Council. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  All right.  Now, I have read somewhere, 

and I think it is a submission by your client that sought 720 vehicle 

movements per day as a permitted activity from an existing quarry site, 

have you seen that submission? 10 

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

MR ENSOR:  I can’t recall the number, but I recall that the submission did 

have an elevated number when talking about threshold for vehicle 15 

movements. Partly, I guess the context around having an increased 

number was to recognise that 250 vehicle movements didn’t 

necessarily represent a realistic number for quarries at all.  

 

MR WINCHESTER:  All right. 20 

 

MR ENSOR:  And I understand that is where the context of that number would 

be.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Okay, so 720 vehicle movements per day during the 25 

operation of the Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Act, that was the 

position, wasn’t it? 

 

MR ENSOR:   I think, yes.  

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   And after the expiry of the Earthquake Recovery Act 

480 permitted movements per day associated with an existing quarry 

operation. 

 

MR ENSOR:   I recall there was a change based on that date.  35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  And can I ask, is that still your client’s position that that 

should be the permitted level of traffic movements to an existing quarry 

in the rural quarry zone? 

 40 

MR ENSOR:   I think that you have to put in context the date, the rebuild and 

the traffic generation that might be produced by quarrying activity 

during the rebuild period was seen as potentially a line in the sand 

where it could change, and I think on further reflection that the CAPG 

has realised that it is not actually a very realistic control, and those 45 

numbers are probably not that realistic either.  
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MR WINCHESTER:  So that is no longer the relief that is being sought? 

 

MR ENSOR:   No, it is not.   

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you.  All right, that is useful.  So what we are 

focussing on in terms of vehicle movements is essentially around what 

is in the high traffic generator rule and what the scope of that rule is? 

 

MR ENSOR:   That is correct. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  So in terms of an existing operation, do I understand 

your position to be that an existing operation would be exempt from the 

high traffic generator rule.  So it wouldn’t need to seek any consents 

under that.   15 

 

MR ENSOR:  The position which I think I discussed in my evidence, it relates 

to the revised proposal that was generated through mediation, and the 

exemption that applied essentially to avoid the need to prove existing 

use rights, and that is the relief that is being sought, the same 20 

exemption.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:  And in the context of this Plan, are you essentially 

saying well, on behalf of your client, “It doesn’t really matter whether 

there is a compliance issue at the moment in terms of an existing quarry 25 

operation, but we will take an traffic generation figure that exists now 

and we will just carry that into the future and be exempt from the high 

traffic generator rule.”  Is that the position?  Because that is the effect 

of what you are asking for, isn’t it? 

 30 

MR ENSOR:  No, I don’t think it is.  I guess what I am saying through my 

evidence is that there is a recognition of an existing activity, quarrying 

activity through the rural quarry zone that necessarily involves high 

levels of traffic generation. There is a proposal that has been put 

forward by the Council to recognise existing levels of traffic generation 35 

from high traffic generators.  It currently excludes quarries.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MR ENSOR:  And I guess through my evidence I am suggesting that it is 40 

appropriate to extend that to quarries, and therefore any future 

increases in traffic generation would be subject to the high trip 

generating thresholds, as any other high trip generator would. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  All right, thank you.  That is helpful.  So in terms of the 45 

question I asked you, I think the answer must be, yes, because what you 
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are saying is – exclude existing levels of traffic generation associated 

with an existing quarry, irrespective of its current compliance position. 

 

MR ENSOR:   Correct, recognise that.  

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, right.   

 

MR ENSOR:   As associated with the land use. 

 

  [2.35 pm] 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right, thank you.   Do you accept as a statement of 

fact that heavy traffic such as trucks associated with quarrying have a 

greater potential to cause damage to roads and road surfaces than a 

normal car? 15 

 

MR ENSOR:   From reading transport expert evidence, yes, I accept that.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:  And it was Mr Warren’s evidence just now that it is 

difficult to establish with any certainty what the scale of existing 20 

activities is from site to site, because they will vary from one site to 

another.   

 

MR ENSOR:  I think he was saying that at any given time it is possible, and 

possibly going back into the short term future, but in terms of 25 

determining existing use rights looking back into the future it would be 

difficult.  

 

MR WINCHESTER:  And how do you propose to provide evidence for the 

purposes of the operation of your regime as to what an existing level of 30 

traffic generation from an existing quarry is.   

 

MR ENSOR:  I suspect without knowing all the details of how vehicle 

movements are recorded from the quarry, there would be an 

opportunity to determine how many trucks go across a weighbridge as 35 

a starting estimate point and work from there, but it is probably a 

question for an operational perspective I think.  

 

MR WINCHESTER: Thank you. In terms of the damage caused, or the 

potential for damage caused to roads by the concentrated number of 40 

heavy truck movements, as might occur at the entrance and exit to a 

quarry, how should effects on that road infrastructure be managed do 

you think under the Plan? 

 

MR ENSOR:   Well I think the way that has been proposed through the revised 45 

proposal, with the exclusion of quarrying from that exemption is an 
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appropriate method.  There is a recognition that an activity is occurring 

in the rural quarry zone.  You can’t remove the vehicles from that land 

use, you have to accept that there is a level of effect occurring 

associated with that. 

 5 

 And anything beyond that can potentially be addressed through a 

consent process, and I guess existing effects are in part only addressed 

through methods such as road user charges, which are pinned on 

heavier vehicles.   

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:  And that is a levy to the Crown, isn’t it, a road user 

charge? 

 

MR ENSOR:   That’s correct, yes.  

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:  Do you not consider that the concentration of heavy 

vehicles at a single location has amenity impacts? 

 

MR ENSOR:   It may well do.  If it’s occurring outside of a quarry zone I 

would also suggest that they would be expected to occur there because 20 

of the land use zoning. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  And so if there are amenity impacts associated with 

heavy vehicle use, which I think you have conceded, how should they 

be managed if those effects are significant? 25 

 

MR ENSOR:   For a new quarry for instance, using quarry as an example, they 

would be assessed through the resource consent process, through the 

land use process.  For the quarry zone, as I have said there is a level of 

effect that is expected to occur.  Because of the land use zone you can’t 30 

separate the vehicle movements from the quarry.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MR ENSOR: So through zoning the land for quarry purposes you are expecting 35 

that there will be a level of amenity associated with a working quarry 

environment.  

 

MR WINCHESTER: And with something like hours of operation or a 

constraint on when heavy vehicles could visit or depart from a quarry 40 

site go towards amenity effects? 

 

MR ENSOR:   It is a method that is used, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Yes, and that could be something that was considered 45 

under the Council’s approach, couldn’t it? 
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MR ENSOR:   Under the Council’s approach?  Sorry, just explain? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   In terms of its proposed rule framework.  

 5 

MR ENSOR:  I would imagine it would be addressed through the relevant zone 

provisions rather than the transport. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Right, so just rely on the zone.  Thank you.  Yes, thank 

you, sir. 10 

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 15 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon, Mr Ensor. 20 

 

MR ENSOR:   Good afternoon. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I just want to by way of background just put a couple of 

building blocks in place, you’ve said that the rural Q zone which has 25 

been rolled over into now the “rural quarry zone” - - -  

 

MR ENSOR:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  - - - is confined to existing quarrying activities, is that tightly 30 

prescribed in terms of the property boundary on which an existing 

activity is being undertaken or does it have a buffer or an area around it 

that allows entrance to the - - -  

 

MR ENSOR:  No there’s no buffer, it runs right along the boundary of the 35 

property that has been quarrying. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  So it’s truly an existing, it’s an existing – it’s spot zone 

effectively? 

 40 

MR ENSOR:   Essentially, yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  And what rules are in place as a set of permitted activity 

rules - - -  

 45 

MR ENSOR:   From regulating respective or generally? 
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DR MITCHELL:   No, generally. 

 

MR ENSOR:   Generally. There are some transport rules similar that have been 

proposed with a vehicle movement threshold, well noise limits would 5 

apply, there are areas that have been – so limits on excavation, there is 

some rehabilitation standards, there’s a range of measures addressing 

most – all events really. 

 

DR MITCHELL: And what’s the status – I just want to understand this existing 10 

use rights versus consenting issue – of the quarries that are spot zoned 

in that way - - -  

 

MR ENSOR:   Yes. 

 15 

DR MITCHELL: - - - how many are in the “unconsented” category and how 

many actually have specific resource consents that codify what they’re 

doing? 

 

MR ENSOR:   I think 8-3 have resource consents, off the top of my head, yes. 20 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And the others - - -  

 

MR ENSOR:   And they - - -  

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - rely on exist - - -  

 

MR ENSOR:   Yes, and - - -  

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - well, assuming presumably - - -  30 

 

MR ENSOR:   That’s right - - -  

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - that would be right. 

 35 

MR ENSOR:   - - - and in fact some of those resources may only relate to part 

activities, extensions or otherwise, yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  And have you done any analysis that would allow an 

assessment to be made of whether those unconsented ones would 40 

qualify as permitted activities under the zoning? 

 

MR ENSOR:   I have had a brief look and the vehicle movement issue is live 

for most. 

 45 

DR MITCHELL:   So they are likely exceed them? 



 Page 203 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.06.15 

 

MR ENSOR:   They likely exceed that. And there is an area of excavation that 

isn’t to be exceeded at any one time, it’s a two hectare area or 

something which is relatively small which would also be exceeded so 

there’s probably a couple of controls that would be triggered. 5 

 

DR MITCHELL: Against the background being – it’s difficult for those 

operations to demonstrate existing use rights, and they’re not permitted 

activities, how can residents or neighbours be assured that the scale of 

operation is legitimate in the sense of being codified in some way as 10 

opposed to being just, “it’s growing like topsy and it is what it is, get 

over it,” don’t you see that there’s potentially a need to retrospectively 

address some of those amenity issues where the quarry operator cannot 

demonstrate existing use rights very easily and is not in compliance 

with the permitted activity levels of the plan? 15 

 

MR ENSOR:   I think as far as the permitted activity levels of the plan that the 

most relevant to amenity is probably the vehicle movement one, the 

others are, you know there’s other controls around dust and things like 

that, that are also being complied with, and there are consents held for 20 

Regional Council consents for air discharges and the like as well, so 

it’s slightly a different story. 

 

 So I think there’s a certain level of comfort that an activities being 

undertaken within some sort of bounds of scope and it doesn’t just 25 

explode overnight, I mean there is also – because the zone is only the 

size of the sites there is, I guess there’s a restriction on the amount of 

expansion that can actually occur without them relooking at some of 

the scale issues and potentially addressing some of these associated 

with that. 30 

 

DR MITCHELL: That wouldn’t necessarily hold though, would it, in the sense 

that you could have a site that, I don’t know under “business as usual” 

might have a 10 year resource life for argument sake, but that you 

could accelerate that and quarry it out in say two years because there 35 

was a high demand for that product and all things being equal that 

would then magnify the trip generation by a factor of five, couldn’t it? 

 

  [2.45 pm] 

 40 

MR ENSOR:   Yes, I guess it could. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  And do you envisage that those sorts of scale changes would 

be triggered by any requirement for resource consent under your 

proposal? 45 
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MR ENSOR:  Under the proposal which includes the quarry activities as 

falling under that exemption, any increase above the threshold would 

then require consent, so there would be a trigger for, if there was a – I 

think the limits 250 vehicle movements increase, then there would be a 

trigger and those effects would be able to be looked at. 5 

 

DR MITCHELL: And what if it’s already above that, I’m just trying to 

understand because - - -  

 

MR ENSOR:   If it’s already above 250 - - -  10 

 

DR MITCHELL:  - - - it’s not altogether clear from the evidence that’s why 

I’m asking. 

 

MR ENSOR:   Sorry, if it’s already above the 250, well then, yes, no the – I 15 

guess there’s a level of effect that is needing to be accepted by the 

proposal to draw a line under it, as is with any other high trip 

generating activity that’s subject to this exemption. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  And if I understood the answer to Mr Winchester's question, 20 

you’re not sure how those existing levels could best be quantified to 

enable the public and the Council and the quarry operator to be certain 

that they’re either under or over the threshold? 

 

MR ENSOR:  I think they could be, it’s sort of an operational matter and it 25 

might vary from quarry to quarry as to the record keeping, but I think if 

it was an average over the past year or two years I think you’d be able 

to generate a useful figure from that. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  All right, thank you, thank you, sir. 30 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Mr Ensor, I’m going to carry on questioning you in 

the same vein. 

 

MR ENSOR:   Sure. 35 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  So you know that five or six of the quarries in the 

rural quarry zone are operating under an existing use right? 

 

MR ENSOR:   Yes. 40 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  And what you’re asking for is that they be exempt 

from the proposed framework based on the fact that they’re operating 

there prior to the plan so at that level so they should be able to continue 

after that at the same level, then any increase on that would trigger a 45 

consent? 
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MR ENSOR:   That’s right. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  If that doesn’t happen then the converse effect must 

be, as we’ve discussed, that if any existing quarry as it sits today is 5 

exceeding the 250 vehicle movements a day, then does that mean that 

they automatically have to provide an integrated transport assessment 

and consequently a resource consent if the plan becomes active as it is 

today? 

 10 

MR ENSOR:  Walkway through the exercise of establishing what their existing 

use rights are and matching that against the plan. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  It’s going to be very difficult to establish what the 

existing use rights are. 15 

 

MR ENSOR:   It is, yes. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Because existing use rights, it’s a function of time, 

isn’t it? 20 

 

MR ENSOR:   Yes. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Most quarries that have existing use rights have gone 

up in volume over the last 20 years, so is the existing use right at the 25 

current level of production, which is really what you’re asking for, isn’t 

it? 

 

MR ENSOR:   Yes. 

 30 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  That that be in some way endorsed inside the plan, 

and if it’s not, then it seems to me that you can only fall back on the 

framework that is proposed which is to say anything over 250 vehicles 

must then meet the criteria which is basic ITA and consequence to that 

most likely will be a resource consent application, would it not? 35 

 

MR ENSOR:  I think that’s right, yes, yes, the default is a resource consent for 

the traffic movements. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  So I calculate that a basic 250 vehicles a day is 40 

probably around the 850,000 ton, a good numbers of those quarries 

would be doing more than that I think. 

 

MR ENSOR:  That’s probably correct, that’s probably a question for Mr 

Warren, but, yes. 45 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes. Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir, thank you. 5 

 

SJH:   Anything arising or any re-examination, Ms Limmer? 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Ensor, you may stand down. 

 

MR ENSOR:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.50 pm] 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   That concludes evidence for CAPG. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Ms Marks? 

 20 

MS MARKS:  Sir, good afternoon sir.  I understand you have a copy of my 

legal submissions in front of you.  I don’t intend to add to them if you 

are happy to take them as read I will call Mr Phillips. 

 

SJH:  I will just check if there are any questions out of that.  No, thank you, 25 

you can go straight to your witness. 
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<NICHOLAS PETER FULLER, affirmed [2.50 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS MARKS [2.50 pm] 

 

MS MARKS:  Can you confirm your full name is Nicholas Peter Fuller? 

 

MR FULLER:  It is. 5 

 

MS MARKS:  That you hold the position of senior transport engineer at Novo 

Group Limited? 

 

MR FULLER:  I do. 10 

 

MS MARKS:  That you have prepared a statement of evidence, dated 10 June 

2015? 

 

MR FULLER:  Yes I have. 15 

 

MS MARKS:  Do you have any corrections to it? 

 

MR FULLER:  No. 

 20 

MS MARKS:  Can you confirm the statement is true and correct to the best of 

your knowledge? 

 

MR FULLER:  It is. 

 25 

MS MARKS:  If you just present a summary and answer any questions. 

 

MR FULLER:  Firstly I would like to note that subsequent to caucusing that 

has taken place between the planners has led to a revised Transport 

chapter and I am broadly supportive of that chapter although I think 30 

there is still two areas of outstanding concern, and the one that I really 

focus on is car parking standards for high trip generating activities. 

 

 So firstly I would like to make a point of clarification really.  I consider 

that car parking could be included in an integrated transport 35 

assessment. 

 

 I have heard it said a number of times that by taking it out of the high 

trip generator rule it wouldn’t be in that assessment, but I consider that 

it very much would be because an ITA is simply a framework 40 

document for discussing and assessing a range of transport related 

issues which could include cycle parking and loading as other matters, 

which are also subject to their own rules. 

 

 I think parking provision can inform an assessment of traffic generation 45 

effects insofar as a site seeking a reduction in car parking should be 
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anticipated to assess a commensurate level of traffic generation 

therefore the parking provision has a consequential effect on traffic 

generation typically associated with that reduced provision compared to 

a minimum standard. 

 5 

 As such my preference is to assess car parking under the car parking 

rule, which is 7.2.3.1 and I think that that would no more diminish the 

link between car parking and traffic generation than having a separate 

rule covering cycle parking does.  Equally it does diminish the 

usefulness of an ITA because that still remains the framework 10 

document and that matters between parking and traffic generation 

remain linked. 

 

 I consider there is a contradiction in Council’s approach regarding 

parking provision in which they are seeking the ability to request more 15 

than would be provided otherwise by a minimum parking requirement 

by assessing of the parking requirement by the high trip generator rule.  

Other parts of the transport chapter seek to facilitate reductions 

compared to that minimum standard which in my mind leads to 

uncertainty as what the Council will seek from an applicant. 20 

 

 In my experience the effects of car parking oversupply are not readily 

quantifiable.  Traffic generation survey data that traffic engineers 

typically use is related to gross floor area or similar measures and not 

the number of carparks proposed.  So whilst I do think there is a link 25 

between traffic generation and parking provision, it is really a link in 

terms of undersupply or a reduction from the minimum as opposed to 

being an oversupply link. 

 

SJH:  Thank you.  Mr Winchester? 30 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [2.54 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you, sir.  Afternoon, Mr Fuller.  Now just a 

couple of questions.  You have talked in your evidence about the 35 

difficulty of establishing or accurately predicting parking demand for a 

specific activity, you say it is quite a difficult exercise. 

 

MR FULLER:  There is a range of parking demands that could occur, yes. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:  Yes.  Don’t you think the same difficulty applies when 

setting a prescribed standard for car parking to be included in the Plan 

that everyone should comply with? 

 

MR FULLER:  I think that there is a difficulty in setting that minimum but 45 

where I think the benefits of those minimums sits is that there are 
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clearly parking reduction factors and there is a means to argue for a 

lesser parking provision if that is what you would like as part of your 

development.  So the ability is very much there to set out the basis of 

why you think you should have a lesser parking provision than that 

minimum. 5 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  I see, thank you.   

 10 

MR FULLER:  Equally – just to, I suppose, expand on that – at present, or 

even if you were to bring it into a parking minimum context, there is 

the ability to provide more car parking if that is what you would like 

and I would use the example of let’s say fast food sites, where the 

parking requirement for food and beverage may be low in terms of the 15 

minimum standard, but my experience has always been that a fast food 

operator will predict the parking demand that they need and they will 

provide more car parking than that minimum if that is what their 

business needs. 

 20 

 So I am comfortable with the minimum standards on that basis. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Yes, all right, thank you.  In terms of a minimum car 

parking requirement, do you think you would be able to identify a 

minimum car parking requirement that meets the necessary demand in 25 

every situation, for inclusion in the Plan? 

 

MR FULLER:  No, I think it does need to have the assessment matters that 

enable a site by site assessment. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:  All right, no, thank you Mr Fuller.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:  Ms McIndoe? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS McINDOE [2.56 pm] 35 

 

MS McINDOE:  Good afternoon.  Sorry, I was scribbling down notes from 

when Mr Winchester was asking questions, of my own. 

 

 Now you have said though that as a high trip generating activity, the 40 

Plan provisions as they are proposed those provisions would require 

such an activity to get consent, wouldn’t it, to obtain resource consent> 

 

MR FULLER:  Yes, it would. 

 45 
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MS McINDOE:  And that if it breached the thresholds, either for the basic ITA 

or the full ITA you would need an integrated transport assessment to 

support that consent application, wouldn’t you? 

 

MR FULLER:  Yes. 5 

 

MS McINDOE:  You have said before – no, you are going to add to that? 

 

MR FULLER:  Sorry, certainly for the high it would. 

 10 

MS McINDOE:  Yes. 

 

MR FULLER:  I think the phrasing that we have gone with for the lower 

assessment is a basic - - - 

 15 

MS McINDOE:  Basic. 

 

MR FULLER: - - - transport assessment.  I suppose there is a subtlety there.  

What we are looking to achieve, and what was discussed in caucusing, 

is an assessment that is commensurate with the activity that is being 20 

proposed. 

 

MS McINDOE:  Yes.  And I think I heard you say when you were presenting 

your summary that you accept that parking is often considered as part 

of an ITA? 25 

 

MR FULLER:  Yes, in my experience it is pretty much always considered as 

part of an ITA. 

 

MS McINDOE:  Have you seen the latest version of the assessment matters 30 

that were attached to the 26 June memorandum? 

 

MR FULLER:  Yes, I have. 

 

MS McINDOE:  Can I ask you to pull those up.  And it is assessment matter 4 35 

that relates to car parking. 

 

MR FULLER:  Yes. 

 

MS McINDOE:  And the wording of that assessment matter is the extent to 40 

which car parking supply varies from the minimum number of carparks 

listed in the table if you like, the what would otherwise be the 

minimum parking rule. 

 

MR FULLER:  Yes. 45 
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MS McINDOE:  And you would support that assessment matter? 

 

MR FULLER:  I am satisfied with regards to whether it matches that 

minimum, and it also has regard to the parking reduction factors which 

I think is useful in terms of enabling a lesser parking provision where 5 

that is warranted. 

 

 I suppose my concern sort of sits around whether that variation matches 

the anticipated parking demand and it is just how that is couched, the 

anticipated parking demands, and there is an aspect of uncertainty that 10 

sits within that. 

 

 So I mean it is fine for us to take survey data and say, look typically we 

might expect an office to require that, say 50 carparks, the uncertainty 

lies in my mind with there is other parts, specifically say those parking 15 

reduction factors, where Council seems to be aiming at using parking 

as a tool for encouraging a mode shift, and my concern lies with the 

ability for Council to require that of the developer – If a developer 

identifies via survey data that they need 50 carparks I believe they 

should be able to provide 50 carparks rather than have the Council say, 20 

“actually to achieve our wider goals we would rather you had 40” or 

whatever the number might be. 

 

 So there is an element of uncertainty that I am concerned with – still 

concerned around that. 25 

 

  [3.00 pm] 

 

MS McINDOE:   So you are concerned that this assessment matter could 

somehow favour the under supplier parking, is that what you are 30 

concerned about? 

 

MR FULLER:   Potentially, yes, well I suppose the converse is equal. You 

might have developments where let us say your on street parking is 

quite tight there is the potential that you might be asked to provide 35 

more car parking than you would otherwise want to provide. 

 

MS McINDOE:   This assessment matter requires assessment or enables 

assessment of both of those extremes if you like does it not? 

 40 

MR FULLER:   It does and it introduces uncertainty as a result of it. 

 

MS McINDOE:   If you are going to be applying for a resource consent and we 

talked before about how that would require an ITA in order to support 

it and you accept that parking is a normal part of an ITA shouldn’t the 45 



 Page 213 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.06.15 

assessment criteria enable the council to look at the parking discussed 

in that ITA? 

 

MR FULLER:   I am saying fine, it is acceptable to look at the car parking but 

what would be most useful from my view is that when you are seeking 5 

a consent if you know an acceptable level of car parking prior to 

getting into that consent process, it is that uncertainty that I am 

interested in. 

 

MS McINDOE:   But you do think it is appropriate that a person applying for 10 

consent provides information to the Council that sets out the parking 

that they are providing or proposing to provide better reasons for that 

level of parking? 

 

MR FULLER:   Yes, yes. 15 

 

MS McINDOE:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon, Mr Fuller. 

 

MR FULLER:   Good afternoon. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   The council witnesses have talked about the clear policy 25 

direction in the RPS about reducing alliance on private motor vehicles 

and I think that is pretty much undisputed and their witnesses have also 

said that they believe that a “carrot and stick” approach is desirable to 

look at how that might occur and they have used the example of the 

carrot being encouragement and rules around providing for cycle parks 30 

and connectivity of walkways and those sorts of things.   

 

 And I think they have left open the scenario that you alluded to in your 

answer to questions just before about using the stick being limiting car 

parks below which a development might ideally want to have. Do you 35 

think that merely encouraging modal shift will ever result in a 

meaningful uptake of those provisions and hence ensure the policy 

direction is achieved or do you think some sort of regulatory 

intervention is essential in order for that to occur? 

 40 

MR FULLER:   I think, arguably there is a level of intervention that could 

occur that should occur perhaps and I would favour that that focuses 

around the provision for those alternative modes so I would be saying 

that the provision of cycle parking facilities, provision of showers and 

that sort of thing that would provide the encouragement in my view. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   You would promote the alternative as opposed to constrain 

or restrict the private vehicle parking provisions for example per se? 

 

MR FULLER:   Yes, and I suppose hand in hand with that is the idea that not 

all parking need be bad parking.  There is also potential that you could 5 

promote car sharing and such like so you do not need to view car 

parking as necessarily all about single occupant car drive round on the 

road network. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Just finally, given that any car parking requirement or 10 

assessment of car parking requirements is not necessarily an absolutely 

precise science and there is unders and overs if there is uncertainty 

involved would your view be that you would err on the side of over 

supply or the side of undersupply? 

 15 

MR FULLER:   Currently I would err on the side of oversupply and part of my 

reasoning for that is I do not think Council is necessarily well equipped 

to deal with the effects of parking on the street and I think the example 

that I have used is Riccarton Road and the bus lanes so there is a 

scenario where businesses arguably have an undersupply of car parking 20 

because they are not providing it on their own sites and they are 

fighting against bus lanes on Riccarton Road. 

 

 From a wider perspective I would say that bus lanes on Riccarton Road 

were a good thing and that is what as a holistic level you would like for 25 

Christchurch, but if you are not accommodating a certain level of 

parking demand on your site then those tensions are going to rise. 

 

  [3.05 pm] 

 30 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, Mr Fuller, that is helpful.  Thank you, 

sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 35 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  No questions. 

 

SJH:   In the development cycle I think we heard earlier and just confirming 

you were saying the same thing, a developer needs to know the car 

parking requirements at a fairly early stage of that cycle. 40 

 

MR FULLER:   That is my experience, yes. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you, anything arising, Mr Winchester? 

 45 

MR WINCHESTER:  No, sir, thank you. 
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SJH:   Ms McIndoe? 

 

MS McINDOE:   No, thank you, sir. 

 5 

SJH:   Any re-examination or anything arising? 

 

MS MARKS:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Fuller, you may stand down and we will adjourn until 10 

9.30 tomorrow morning, thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.05 pm] 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 5.06 PM UNTIL 15 

WEDNESDAY, 1 JULY 2015 


